
COUNCIL MEETING - 26 SEPTEMBER 2019

Councillors of the London Borough of Islington are summoned to attend a meeting of the   
Council to be held in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 
26 September 2019 at 7.30 pm.

Chief Executive

AGENDA

Page

1. Minutes 1 - 40

The Minutes of the previous meetings held on 27 June 2019 and 25 July 
2019.

2. Declarations of Interest
If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it 
becomes apparent;

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.  

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item.

If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in 
the discussion and vote on the item.

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain.

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; 
including from a trade union.

Public Document Pack



(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between 
you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial 
interest) and the council.

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences - Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month 

or longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 

which you or your partner have a beneficial interest.
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a 

place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value 
of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.  

This applies to all members present at the meeting.

3. Mayoral Announcements

(i) Apologies
(ii) Order of business
(iii) Declaration of discussion items 
(iv) Mayor’s announcements 
(v) Length of speeches

4. Leader's Announcements

5. Petitions

6. Petition debate: Declare a climate emergency in Islington and pledge to 
reach net zero emissions by 2030

41 - 44

7. Questions from Members of the Public 45 - 46

8. Questions from Members of the Council 47 - 48

9. Byelaw for the Management of Barbeques on Highbury Fields 49 - 72

10. London Councils' Transport and Environment Committee - Governing 
Agreement Amendment for Greater London Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaw

73 - 94

11. Chief Whip's Report 95 - 98

12. Notices of Motion 99 - 104

Where a motion concerns an executive function, nothing passed can be 
actioned until approved by the Executive or an officer with the relevant 
delegated power.



Motion 1: Women’s Night Safety Charter

Motion 2: Opposing a ‘No Deal’ Brexit

Motion 3: A Fully Funded, Proper Pay Rise for Council and School Workers

Motion 4: Opposition to Heathrow Expansion & the introduction of concentrated 
flight paths over Islington

Motion 5: Single-use plastic-free Islington

Enquiries to : Jonathan Moore
Tel : 020 7527 3308
E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk
Despatched : 18 September 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



 27 June 2019

LONDON BOROUGH OF ISLINGTON

COUNCIL MEETING -  27 JUNE 2019

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

At the meeting of the Council held at Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 
2UD on  27 June 2019 at 7.30 pm.

Present:

Ismail
Bell-Bradford
Burgess
Caluori
Champion
Chapman
Chowdhury
Clarke
A Clarke-Perry
Comer-Schwartz
Cutler
Debono
Gantly
Gill
Graham

Hamitouche
Heather
Hull
Hyde
Jeapes
Kay
Khondoker
Khurana
Klute
Lukes
Nathan
Ngongo
O'Halloran
O'Sullivan
Picknell

Poole
Poyser
Russell
Shaikh
Smith
Spall
Turan
Ward
Watts
Wayne
Webbe
Williamson
Woolf

The Mayor (Councillor Rakhia Ismail) in the Chair

53 MINUTES 

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the Awards Council meeting held on 14 March 2019 and the 
Annual Council meeting held on 16 May 2019 be approved and the Mayor be 
authorised to sign them. 

54 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

55 MAYORAL ANNOUNCEMENTS 

(a) Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Caluori, Convery, Fletcher, 
Gallagher, Gill, Mackmurdie and Woodbyrne. 

Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Shaikh. 

(b) Order of business 

The Mayor announced that the order of business would be revised. Motion 1, tackling 
the environment and climate emergency by achieving a net zero carbon Islington by 
2030, would be considered as the next item of business, prior to Item 4, Leader’s 
Announcements. 

(c) Declaration of discussion items 

None. 

(d) Mayor’s Announcement 

The Mayor highlighted several events she had attended since becoming Mayor and 
said that it was a privilege to serve the borough’s communities. 

As the mayoral year started during Ramadan the Mayor had attended many Iftar 
parties; the Mayor had especially enjoyed the Iftar at Finsbury Park Mosque which 
was attended by hundreds of people. The Mayor was also very excited to be invited 
to the Royal Observatory in Greenwich to the New Crescent Society’s Moonsighting 
event to mark the start of Eid. 

The Mayor had attended the Active Officers’ Dinner at the Honourable Artillery 
Company and thanked her hosts for agreeing to hold back the start of the main 
course until 8.57pm, to allow the Mayor and her Consort to break their fast. 

At the end of May, the Mayor and Cllr Webbe had greeted over 200 primary school 
children outside the Town Hall who were protesting about the climate emergency. 
You may have seen some of their posters outside of the Council Chamber. The Mayor 
understood that this issue was very important to councillors and Islington residents 
and said that she looked forward to hearing interesting discussions on these issues at 
the meeting. 

The Mayor noted that June was LGBT Pride Month and many fantastic events were 
being held all over London. In May the Mayor had attended an event at Islington 
Museum to commemorate the International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia 
and Biphobia.  The Mayor said that Islington has a proud history of LGBT activism 
and was very important to celebrate all of Islington’s diverse communities.   

Page 2



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

The Mayor was pleased to attend the first “Autism Hour” event hosted at the 
Finsbury Park Mosque. This has been organised by ex-councillor Tim Nicholls who 
works with the National Autistic Society. The lights were dimmed and a quiet space 
provided for the children who came along. The Mayor said that she was proud to be 
Mayor in a borough that is accommodating to all of its communities.  

The Mayor also highlighted several successful events she had attended; the opening 
of Caledonian Park Clock Tower, the Soul in the City festival on the Andover Estate, 
and the Cally Festival.  

The Mayor also noted that June was a time of remembrance. 14 June was the second 
anniversary of the Grenfell Tower fire. The Mayor said that safety of Islington’s 
residents must always be the council’s highest priority, and her thoughts were with 
the survivors of the tragedy. 

19 June was the second anniversary of the Finsbury Park terror attack and the death 
of Makram Ali. The Mayor said that we must never forget the way in which Islington’s 
communities came together after that awful attack. We must always stand together 
and show that our communities won’t be divided by hate.

Finally, the Mayor thanked two officers who were leaving Islington Council. Kevin 
O’Leary, the Corporate Director of Environment and Regeneration, was leaving 
Islington after 18 years’ service and 43 years in local government. Alan Layton, the 
Chief Finance Officer, was retiring after 15 years’ service at Islington and 37 in local 
government. On behalf of the Council, the Mayor thanked Kevin and Alan for their 
contribution to the borough.

(e) Length of speeches

The Mayor reminded members to keep within the permitted time allowed for 
speeches. 

56 NOTICES OF MOTION 

Motion 1 - Tackling the environment and climate emergency by achieving a net zero 
carbon Islington by 2030

The motion was moved by Councillor Webbe. Councillor Clarke seconded. Councillors 
Russell, Jeapes, Poyser and O’Sullivan contributed to the debate. Councillor Webbe 
exercised her right of reply and thanked the members of the public who had 
attended the meeting to express their concerns about the climate crisis. 

The motion was put to the vote and CARRIED. 

Page 3



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

RESOLVED: 

(i) To declare an environment and climate emergency;
(ii) To pledge to work towards making Islington net zero carbon by 2030, ahead of 

the current 2050 target;
(iii) To make representations to regional and national government to urge them to 

take action to support the goal of a net zero carbon Islington by 2030, including 
through the provision of the necessary resources and legal powers to the Council 
and others to support the action needed to achieve this;

(iv) To continue to work with partners across the borough to deliver this new goal 
through all relevant strategies and plans, ensuring that reducing carbon 
emissions is embedded in all relevant Council decision making;

(v) To publish on an annual basis details of carbon emissions reduction interventions 
the Council is delivering and commissioning, including the progress these actions 
are delivering in reducing the tonnage of carbon emissions in the borough;

(vi) To ensure local people are able to contribute to the formulation and scrutiny of 
the strategic actions needed to address the environment and climate emergency 
by consulting on proposals and by organising an annual ‘Tackling the 
Environment and Climate Emergency’ meeting, hosted by the Environment and 
Regeneration Scrutiny Committee, in addition to the wide-range of existing 
opportunities for local people to make representations to the Council;

(vii) To report to Full Council on 27th February 2020 what strategic actions the 
Council is taking to address the environment and climate emergency, including 
plans and milestones to achieve emissions reductions within the Council’s 
control, and to share details of representations being made to other institutions 
to achieve reductions in emissions outside of the Council’s direct control.

57 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Councillor Watts said that declaring a climate emergency was an enormously 
significant moment and thanked the councillors, campaigners, community groups and 
others who had worked on this issue. Councillor Watts said that action was needed 
for the borough to achieve the target of net zero carbon emissions by 2030. These 
actions would build on the borough’s strong record of delivery on environmental 
issues, including bringing forward the target to reduce carbon emissions between 
2005 and 2020, leading on the decarbonisation of the pension fund, and leading a 
community campaign to get climate justice across the country. Councillor Watts said 
that we needed to go even further and work together to develop a plan for the 
borough to meet its targets. It was really important to engage with local people on 
this issue, as the climate emergency required all of us to make major changes to how 
we live our lives, how our homes look and how we travel. This was not only an issue 
for Islington Council, but for everyone. 

Councillor Watts said that currently the Council did not have the powers or budget to 
achieve net zero emissions by 2030. It was important to be honest about this fact, as 

Page 4



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

we would need to campaign for the powers and resources to be able to achieve the 
target. 

Councillor Watts had joined the Mayor at the events to mark the second anniversary 
of the Finsbury Park terror attack and the 75th anniversary of the V1 bomb attack on 
Highbury Corner. Both of these events resulted in a tragic and horrific loss of life and 
both were a result of hatred of others. At this most difficult time, all of us must stand 
up for a single united community. Councillor Watts strongly believed that diversity 
was a strength and what made Islington one of the best boroughs in the country, but 
we could not assume that everyone shares those values. It was not enough to assert 
our support of diversity in council meetings, but we had to work as a whole 
community to share the message of love and diversity. Councillor Watts appealed to 
all those in attendance to go out of their way to spread the message that everyone is 
welcome in Islington. 

Councillor Watts said that he was increasingly concerned about the risks of a no-deal 
Brexit and the catastrophic impact that it would have on the borough. Councillor 
Watts said it was absolutely right to put any Brexit deal back to the people so people 
knew what they were getting. 

Councillor Watts welcomed the latest round of police raids targeting the drugs 
economy. The local drugs economy had a huge impact on young people’s safety and 
other crime issues in the borough. Jeremy Corbyn MP was coordinating a meeting 
with councillors to talk to key figures in the Finsbury Park community on this issue. 
Keeping young people safe was a top priority for the Council and the drugs economy 
was fundamentally linked to the rise in youth crime and serious youth violence over 
recent years. Councillor Watts commended the work of the council, particularly the 
Integrated Gangs Team, the Youth Offending Service, youth outreach teams and 
other youth provision for working to keep young people safe. Youth crime and 
violence was very concerning to local residents and the latest round of arrests was 
very welcome.       

Councillor Watts was delighted to attend the opening of Caledonian Park Clock 
Tower. It was noted that there had been some criticism of the Clock Tower project 
and the development of the small and unobtrusive visitor centre and café, however 
Councillor Watts was pleased that the centre had opened and said it was a fantastic 
facility for local people. Councillor Watts thanked the Holloway ward councillors and 
others who had supported the project. 

Councillor Watts also noted the opening of Beacon High School and said he was sure 
that it would have a bright future. Young people of Holloway and Tufnell Park 
deserved an outstanding world class school in their local area and, on behalf of the 
Council, Councillor Watts wished Beacon High every success.  

Councillor Watts thanked Kevin O’Leary and Alan Layton for their contribution to the 
Council and wished them the best for the future. 

Page 5



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

58 PETITIONS 

Hannah Staab presented a petition on behalf of Fossil Free Islington on the climate 
emergency and associated actions. 

Sebastian Sandys presented a petition regarding the parklet in Baldwin Street. 

Councillor Heather presented a petition objecting to the licensing application for 
Nag’s Head Covered Market. 

59 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE YOUTH COUNCIL 

Question (a) from Youth Councillor Jemelia Furtado to Councillor Webbe, Executive 
Member for Environment & Transport:

A Times investigation shows there are around 6,500 British schools, with 2.6m pupils, 
in areas where air pollution levels exceed World Health Organisation limits. The total 
includes 3,900 nursery and primaries. The numbers involve fine particles, known as 
PM2.5, which are the most dangerous form of air pollution. Every school in London is 
over the limit. What is Islington Council doing to improve air quality to minimise 
damage to young people’s health in the borough?

Response: 

Thank you for your question. This is a very important issue. Children and young 
people are particularly vulnerable to air pollution. Air quality in Islington is improving 
but we are determined to do more to tackle this silent killer as quickly as possible. 
Our Air Quality Strategy includes a detailed Action Plan which sets out what we will 
do to improve air quality in the borough. 

In terms of air quality outside of schools, we have already installed air quality 
monitors as all schools across the borough. We are the first council to do this and are 
using the data collected to produce an audit report which will describe the specific 
pollution related to each school and what actions can be taken to reduce pollution 
and reduce exposure. Of course we also encourage our residents to walk and cycle. 

It is important to remember that children are exposed to the highest levels of 
pollution not whilst they are in school but on the commute to and from school. In 
Islington we have 37 primary schools and 7 secondary schools which exceed the 
nationally set carbon level. As part of our efforts to clean up our air around our 
schools, earlier this month I opened our tenth School Street, just over six months 
after opening the first. We are moving at speed, we are ahead of other boroughs, 
and we want to do this for all schools. School Streets close roads near schools to all 
vehicles, except those with exemptions, at drop off and pick up times. This helps to 
reduce pollution, as well as encouraging road safety and encouraging people to walk, 
cycle and scoot to school. 

Page 6



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

I was delighted to mark Clean Air Day by launching our pioneering Moreland Street 
scheme, the road has been completely redesigned in favour of children and local 
people walking and cycling, with wider footways, traffic calming measures and new 
plants and seating. All of which was designed by the children of Moreland Primary 
School and Moreland Children’s Centre themselves. This makes our streets healthier 
and safer for local children walking to and from school, this is real action we have 
taken. We agree that tackling poor air quality is extremely important and we are 
committed to doing all that we can. Thank you again for raising this important 
question. 

Question (b) from Youth Councillor Lydia Banjo to Councillor Comer-Schwartz, 
Executive Member for Children, Young People & Families:

A Government review led by former children’s minister Edward Timpson is to 
recommend that schools must be held accountable for the results of excluded 
children, with head teachers responsible for pupils even after they have been 
expelled. The review is also expected to say there is a correlation, but not causation 
between exclusions and gang violence.

What can Council Leaders do encourage Heads to reduce exclusions and provide 
more support to young people who may have issues leading to challenging 
behaviour? 

Response: 

Thank you for your question and for raising this important issue. Our mission is to 
make Islington a fairer place for all, especially young people. To achieve that we 
want Islington to be the best possible place to grow up. 

Exclusions are ultimately an issue of fairness. We believe they should only be used as 
the very last resort. We’ve had a brilliant scrutiny review of exclusions which ran in 
parallel to the Timpson review and our own recommendations were very similar to 
the findings of the Timpson Review. As an example, both reports identified 
inconsistent practice, school ethos, fairness, inclusion and cost as key factors at play. 

The Timpson review also made many of the same recommendations to reduce the 
number of exclusions, including the development of Behaviour and Attendance 
Partnerships involving all schools, and taking a whole school approach. Our 
Safeguarding Board has also been running trauma-informed practice training for all 
our schools which I hope will make a real impact.  

We also agree with the recommendations that the Department of Education, should 
make schools responsible for the young people they exclude and accountable for 
their educational outcomes’ and hope that the Secretary of State for Education, 
Damien Hinds will deliver on his promise to consult with schools and councils on how 
to take this forward. 

Page 7



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

As a council we are now developing an action plan in response to the Timpson 
Review and our own review. The next time I meet the Youth Council I am happy to 
talk you through what we are doing on this issue. 

Supplementary question: 

As a Youth Council we have worked with Headteachers to tackle the issue of young 
people being excluded. As young people ourselves we know people who have been 
excluded for reasons we don’t agree with, one young person was excluded after 
being stabbed. We think a problem is that Headteachers aren’t working collectively 
together on these type of issues. We want to know how you will push these 
Headteachers to work collectively to bring about change for young people. 

Response: 

Thank you. I cannot comment on particular cases, but I absolutely empathise with 
the difficult position of schools in dealing with very worrying safeguarding issues, 
particularly when knife crime is involved. Exclusion has a long term impact on a 
person’s life and decisions cannot be taken lightly. I mentioned our trauma informed 
practice training, this looks to support teachers in understanding young people’s 
issues, particularly those involved in criminal activity and child exploitation. It’s really 
important. We also want to set up a board that reviews exclusions, involving all 
schools, so we can share best practice and concerns, and support schools more in 
identifying concerning behaviours early on. 

Question (c) from Youth Councillor Abubakar Finiin to Councillor Webbe, Executive 
Member for Environment & Transport:

As you know young people have a real interest in climate change and many of us 
took part in the recent protests. Islington currently recycles just under 30% of 
household waste, whilst we are pleased that this is the 5th highest of the 13 inner 
London Boroughs. We are also pleased with the new recycling bins on the streets.
What more can be done to increase recycling and get businesses and residents to
reduce waste in the borough?

Response: 

Firstly, can I thank you for your activism on the issue of climate change. It’s been 
fantastic to witness local young people at the heart of these campaigns. 

I’d also like to echo your comments about the positive recycling rates in our borough. 
As a central London borough, especially with a large number of flats and estates, 
maintaining a high recycling rate can be challenging. Resident’s engagement with the 
service in delivering such high-levels of recycling is crucial and we are pleased they 
continue to do so. However, as you have highlighted in your question there is more 
that we can and must do to help manage the increasing environmental issues we all 
face.

Page 8



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

We have produced a Waste Reduction and Recycling Strategy which includes details 
of how we will deliver key waste reduction and recycling targets for the years ahead. 
As a borough we are absolutely committed to providing an ambitious plan to 
contribute to London’s overall targets and to drive both waste reduction and 
improved recycling performance. 

Key areas we are targeting for improvement include a programme for the 
improvement of communal recycling sites, and a recycling champions programme to 
encourage engaged residents to learn more and engage with other borough 
residents. It is not just about residents; it is about businesses too. We provide 
comprehensive services to recycle waste from businesses, however we are exploring 
extending our food waste service to commercial properties, as well as flats and 
apartments, which would mean the provision of food waste recycling to almost all 
properties in the borough.

It’s not just about recycling, it’s about re-use, it’s about dealing with the producers of 
waste in the borough. Businesses must do more to take action, they must recycle 
more, and we will support them by offering a comprehensive service. We will also 
tackle the producers of unnecessary waste and challenge them in private and in 
public as well. 

Question (d) from Youth Councillor Jemelia Furtado to Councillor Comer-Schwartz, 
Executive Member for Children, Young People & Families:

We successfully collaborated with the Islington Safer Neighbourhood Board, Ben
Kinsella Trust and Targeted Youth Support to organise and deliver YouthFest. Over 
200 young people attended the event at Lift Youth Hub. It gave us a chance to 
engage with our peers on a Friday night and share some of the positive opportunities 
available for young people in the borough.

What collaborations and partnerships is the Council actively forging to reduce knife 
crime and youth violence in the borough?

Response: 

Thank you for your question on this important issue and your work on YouthFest, it 
was a brilliant event and I look forward to the next one. It was a wonderful way to 
show how the majority of young people are engaged in positive and meaningful 
activities and to really showcase all of the positive things we have on offer. 

I completely agree that partnership working and taking a community response to the 
devastating effects of knife crime is the way to go, I’m proud to say that we’ve 
protected our Youth Hubs and our Children’s Centres and we’ve also invested a 
further £500,000 in targeted support for young people in acute need of additional 
help. 

Page 9



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

I also want to mention, as an example of great partnership working, our Integrated 
Gangs Team. This service brings together council staff, the police and other partner 
organisations and is having really positive outcomes in diverting young people away 
from criminal behaviour. We are also working closely with schools and parents, we’ve 
been doing a lot of training around trauma and knife crime prevention, and tomorrow 
Cllr Watts and I are meeting community partners and Jeremy Corbyn MP on what we 
can do together. I’m really looking forward to working with the Youth Council on this 
issue too. I know it’s one of your key priorities and I’d welcome any ideas you have 
in this area. 

60 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

Councillor Russell moved a motion to suspend procedure rule 19.2(d) governing the 
time set aside for questions, in accordance with procedure rule 22(k) of the Council’s 
Constitution. Councillor Russell proposed that, due to the significant number of 
advance questions from members of the public, the time allowed for questions should 
be extended to allow all advance questions from the public to be heard. Councillor 
Watts spoke in support of the motion, commenting that he supported the suspension 
of procedure rules given the special circumstances, however Cllr Watts proposed an 
amendment to allow all advance questions submitted by members of the Council to 
be heard also. Councillor Russell exercised her right of reply to confirm that she 
concurred with the proposed amendment and altered her motion accordingly. 

The motion was put to the vote and CARRIED.

RESOLVED: 

That Procedure Rule 19.2(d) be suspended for the duration of the meeting, to allow 
all questions submitted in advance to be heard. 

Question (a) from Gulus Egilmez to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment & Transport: 

Why are there no traffic signals at two crossings on Holloway Road (Palmer Place N7 
and Drayton Park) for pedestrians? Pedestrians attempt to cross the road safely when 
they perceive a safe gap in traffic but also quickly (not everyone can cross at the 
same speed). This presents a high risk of accidents. It also seems the council is 
giving higher priority to cars over pedestrians.

Response: 

Thank you for your question. Islington Council is working hard to promote active, 
sustainable travel and to make the borough’s road safer. We have already delivered a 
number of major improvements to make our borough safer for cyclists and 
pedestrians, and our Transport Strategy will shortly be published for consultation. 
This will set out plans to make improvements for pedestrians and cyclists. 

Page 10



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

You raise the issue of Holloway Road specifically; this forms part of Transport for 
London’s Road Network and therefore comes under their responsibility. Transport for 
London are also responsible for all traffic signals in London. 

We share the concerns you have raised and I am pleased to say we have already 
been in contact with Transport for London about this junction and they are actively 
looking into the possibility of a pedestrian crossing on all arms of the junction. We 
would support this in going to public consultation, to ensure there are safe pedestrian 
crossings in this area. I’m really pleased that Transport for London and the Mayor of 
London are listening to these types of concerns, raised by residents and ward 
councillors. We are very happy to work with them to make Islington’s roads safer.

Supplementary question: 

Is there anything that members of the public can do to speed up the process? I’ve 
lived in different parts of the borough and one thing I’ve noticed is the different 
quality of the street crossings in different areas. As a young person I can attempt to 
cross busy roads, but for older people, disabled people, people with children, it is an 
issue. If there is anything the public can do to help the process? 

Response: 

It is clear that our roads were designed for cars and not people and that has to 
change. Earlier this evening we declared a climate emergency and called for net zero 
emissions by 2030. In order to achieve that our roads have to be better for 
pedestrians and cyclists. We have raised the issue and the Mayor and Transport for 
London are listening, we now need to get this out to public consultation so our 
residents can respond. The Council has already demanded that we want 
transformation of Holloway Road as a whole and we want to see that in the Mayor’s 
plans. So join us in that campaign, as we continue to ask for the total transformation 
of Holloway Road, to make it better for pedestrians and cyclists and make it safer for 
our future.  

Question (b) from Tanya Vyshniakova to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment & Transport: 

Dog owners in Islington ignore all warnings and don't clean up after dogs. The 
reason for this is that the Council fail to prosecute and fine in practice. When I walk 
out of my door and I am getting surrounded with dog mess. I saw a little girl with 
her mum. The mum was pushing a buggy and the girl was playing around as all 
children do, one moment and this girl ran behind the tree, picked up dog mess and 
played with it like it’s clay. Her mum called her pretty quickly. Is this what we want 
our children to play with? What is your view on this issue and how do you prosecute 
dog owners in practice? How many cases have you investigated and how many 
penalties have been paid around Islington in the last month?

Page 11



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

As Tanya Vyshniakova was not present at the meeting, a written response was sent, 
as follows: 

I’m very sorry for the experiences you’ve described in your question, which of course, 
in my view are unacceptable. Tackling dog fouling is a one of the Council’s key 
priority issues and the Council has dedicated significant resources to both 
enforcement and education of dog owners.

The Council has dedicated staff covering every ward and they focus their efforts on 
dealing with all types of low level anti-social behaviour including dog fouling. The 
Council’s dedicated staff are in their specific wards every day monitoring and find 
that the majority of people both residents and visitors clean up after their dog. The 
Council also undertakes education and encouragement programmes across Islington 
including on estates and in parks. The Council does not record all interactions with 
dog owners as there are very many of these. The actions the Council can take can 
range from giving advice and warnings, to issuing fixed penalty notices and 
prosecuting. In total the Council has issued 45 fixed penalty notices and prosecuted 2 
individuals since 2013. These numbers may seem small but most dog owners are 
responsible and take the advice Council staff provide.

It can be very difficult to witness the offence too and the Council can do more if 
people help and support the Council with our investigations. If anyone does want to 
make a complaint to the Council, they can email pollution@islington.gov.uk, giving 
what information they can – description of dog and owner, relevant addresses and 
locations, time when it happens etc. Any information given to the Council is entirely 
confidential and immediate and appropriate resources will be targeted by the Council 
to investigate.

Unfortunately there will still be times when the Council will need to clean up dog 
fouling; I’m pleased to report that we will be able to do this more effectively and 
efficiently through our new dedicated neighbourhood street cleansing service, which 
began in June 2018 and thus I am hopeful there will have been an improvement in 
your area. If you need the Council to clean up at any time, you can report this 
instantly via the Islington Clean Streets app or your My e-account.

Question (c) from Sebastian Sandys to Councillor Watts, Leader of the Council 

Extinction Rebellion Islington are proud to live in a Borough with the country’s first 
female Somali Mayor. We are proud too of the several hundred people who signed 
the petition demanding a Citizens Assembly. Would the Leader of the Council tell me 
when he will be in a position to meet that demand?

Response: 

Thank you Sebastian. As we have discussed already this evening, this is an incredibly 
important issue. It is important that we engage with members of the public and that 
we use the experience and expertise of people in this room and the whole 

Page 12



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

community if we are to take on this massive task of making this borough net zero 
carbon by 2030. I mean that sincerely, but your question is not about whether we do 
that, but how we best do that. 

Just to be absolutely frank, our worry about the citizens’ assembly, which I 
understand is a core ask of Extinction Rebellion, is that where there is genuine 
political commitment here in Islington, it’s not actually very helpful in taking things 
forward. My reason for thinking that is that the boroughs who are announcing 
citizens’ assemblies are taking the power away from locally elected politicians. 
Citizens’ assemblies also take a lot of time which I don’t think we have. I have 
experience of citizens’ assemblies, and think they are a really good way of getting 
engagement, but it takes a very long time and a lot of money to do it properly. 

I think the core of my worry about all of this is taking the matter beyond politics, 
because I don’t think this matter can be taken beyond politics. It is inherently 
political. It was a political decision to expand Heathrow Airport, it was a political 
decision to impose austerity on this borough which is the biggest barrier to us 
implementing what we want to achieve. It will be a political decision of a future 
government to get us out of this mess. It has to be the people who are 
democratically accountable to take the lead on this, genuinely with the community, 
because politics is central to getting this sorted. Politics got us into this mess and 
politics can get us out of it. 

Supplementary question: 

I am relieved by your answer, as I think you may have misunderstood the nature of a 
citizens’ assembly, we don’t have the time to talk about that now but perhaps we can 
discuss a way forward. The decision to reject the petition must also be seen 
alongside the overwhelming vote of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee to reject the proposal to co-opt two non-voting experts onto the 
committee to advise and support them. My question is, are you confident that you 
are doing everything you can, as the Leader of your councillors, that they have 
available to them the best information, the best expertise, and the best science in 
order to make the decisions they will have to make?

Response:    

Yes, I am, for a number of reasons. That expertise is found in this room, there is 
genuine expertise among some of the elected members of the Council, the members 
of the various organisations here, and I want to pay tribute to Fossil Free Islington. A 
couple of weeks ago myself and Cllr Webbe had an hour booked in the diary to meet 
with them to talk about this, and the meeting went on for three hours because of the 
richness of the conversation and the genuine expertise of the people in this room. I 
find that very impressive and I thank Fossil Free Islington for giving us their time that 
evening. There is absolute openness for that kind of dialogue and using that 
expertise from those in this room and council staff. My door is open and we will do 
what we need to do without all of the bureaucracy that goes around a citizens’ 
assembly.  

Page 13



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Question (d) from Jackie Noone to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for Housing & 
Development: 

From the annual public health report released by the Town Hall earlier this year it 
highlighted the challenges that Islington had with a rising population and ageing 
demographic. It showed a predicted 60% increase in the predicted number of adults 
over the age of 65 in the borough in the next 15 years. I’d like to understand how 
the Council propose to support this when Community assets are being lost through 
“consolidation” or closure such as Sotheby Mews Day Centre and the increasing 
reliance on the voluntary sector?

Response: 

Thank you for your question. Islington Council has clear ambitions for residents to 
live healthy, independent lives. Extending the number of years people live free from 
disability and poor health is an essential part of our response to an ageing population 
and improving quality of life for all our older residents. 

Islington has an extensive range of community centres and facilities. There are over 
70 community centres in the borough, over 50 of these are owned by the council. 
The council, housing associations and our voluntary sector partners have recently 
invested in building new state of the art community facilities across the borough, 
including Brickworks, Vibast and the Goodinge Community Centres, others including 
Ronald's Road will be ready soon. These facilities are something that we can rightly 
be proud of, and will enable us and voluntary sector partners to respond to the 
changing demographics of the borough, providing opportunities for residents of all 
ages to connect and thrive. 

In addition, we have secured the provision of community space through our planning 
policy and affordable workspace strategy, enabling Islington's voluntary and 
community to access affordable delivery space to provide services to the community. 
In recent years, there has been a net increase in community assets, and an increase 
in the number of voluntary sector partners making use of these spaces. 

The brand new community centre at Ronald's Road provides more additional new 
space than is currently at the Sotheby Mews site. Ronald’s Road will be the new 
location for the existing service that runs from Sotheby Mews. Islington Labour was 
re-elected with an overwhelming mandate to deliver genuinely affordable council 
homes to help tackle the housing crisis. The site at Sotheby Mews will be used to 
deliver much needed council homes for local families. That will happen in conjunction 
with a thriving service at the Ronald’s Road site. 

Supplementary question: 

It is understood that the council are dealing with underfunding in various sectors, 
mental health and social care for example. Is it not time that we see budgets 

Page 14



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

realigned, to account for windfall benefits such as HM Prison Holloway, whilst 
recognising that housing is a challenge. The current users of Sotheby Mew Day 
Centre, plus over 2,000 people signing our petition to keep the day centre with 
housing on top, realise what a loss to Islington and the community it will be. The site 
is a community asset, it has a large, beautiful mature garden that is valued and 
appreciated for its therapeutic and wellbeing benefits. It is a quiet haven that in this 
busy city is a necessity for us and future generations. Please reconsider and let us 
work together to keep our community centre open. 

Response: 

Thank you. This council is facing huge budget cuts, but this is not what this is about. 
This is about providing genuinely affordable council homes for the families in need 
right across this borough. We can do that whilst also providing a thriving, state-of-
the-art community centre at Ronald’s Road. I will happily work with you for as long 
as it takes to make sure that, even though we build genuinely affordable council 
homes for those who need them, we also make sure that the thriving service at 
Sotheby Mews continues at the brand new state-of-the-art centre at Ronald’s Road.  

Question (e) from John Dear to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for Housing & 
Development: 

Despite the windfall of 1000 dwellings at HMP Holloway of which 600 will be deemed 
affordable or for social rent and Islington Council exceeding its GLA targets for new 
housing why has the Council not considered a compromise with mixed use at 
Sotheby Mews Day Centre as the site currently, from Planning, will only 
accommodate 10 dwellings?

Response: 

Thank you for your question, John. As I have just said in my answer to Jackie, 
Islington Labour was re-elected overwhelmingly on a manifesto which committed to 
tackle the housing crisis by delivering new council and genuinely affordable homes 
for local people. Of course we welcome the anticipated large number of homes 
forecast to come from the HMP Holloway Development. However, there are still over 
13,000 people on the council’s waiting list. If we are going to tackle the housing 
crisis, we must continue to build more new council housing. Even sites that can 
supply a small number of new homes still mean a life changing experience for local 
people in need of a home, like families living in overcrowded conditions, for example. 
This site will be made up of homes for local families on the housing register. Ten 
homes might not seem like a lot, I can tell you, it will be of immeasurable value, 
unquantifiable value, to those residents and their families. There are a number of 
community facilities in the area, and the floor space in the new community centre 
at Ronald's Road provides more space than is currently at the Sotheby Mews site. 
Thank you again for your question. 

Page 15



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Supplementary question: 

In the Labour Manifesto, on which this administration was elected, there was a 
statement which read ‘We will continue to deliver services that help tackle isolation, 
encourage exercise, and allow older people to enjoy activities that improve their 
wellbeing’. For the last two years, Highbury Roundhouse, service users at Sotheby 
Mews and others have been raising funds to provide a mini-bus to ensure those who 
need transport to attend Sotheby Mews currently can continue to do so once council 
transport is withdrawn. We have made note that the new Highbury Roundhouse 
where services are to be consolidated is difficult to get to for many. I’d like tonight to 
get assurances that those who cannot get to the new centre, and this is over 60% of 
the users from a recent survey, will not be isolated due to transportation issues. 

Response: 

They certainly will not be isolated due to transport issues. We are working on this, I 
am working closely with my Executive colleagues and officers. I am very excited 
about the new centre at Ronald’s Road and we will ensure that everybody can enjoy 
the centre. 

Question (f) from Christopher Procter to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for 
Housing & Development 

In light of the new evidence from the IPCC that we have only 12 years to save 
ourselves from runaway climate change does the council plan a new Local WWII 
style 12-year EMERGENCY Supplement to the revised Local Plan?   

Response: 

Thank you for your question, Christopher. While we do not plan to introduce a new 
Emergency Supplement to the revised Local Plan, the Council is doing everything we 
can within our existing planning powers to reduce the impact of the built 
environment on our climate. The Draft Local Plan includes robust and ambitious 
policies promoting zero carbon development which will ensure that the Council is on 
track to achieve net zero carbon for all new and refurbished buildings in Islington by 
2030. 
Further to the draft Local Plan, a motion has been passed tonight with a commitment 
to work towards making Islington net zero carbon by 2030. 

Supplementary question: 

We are facing human extinction. To prevent this, all public resources must be 
temporarily shifted to decarbonisation, away from growth. As an architect specialising 
in residential homes in this borough, I find the Local Plan is not fit for purpose. The 
borough’s response to climate change rests on tighter standards in new build without 
addressing the vast bulk of existing below-standard buildings. The proposed Local 
Plan states that buildings represent 8% of carbon emissions, with the proposed 

Page 16



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

reduction in these emissions by 66% by 2034, this is not consistent with the climate 
emergency motion passed tonight requiring net zero carbon by 2030. How will 
reduction be achieved without serious retrofitting of current building stock? Do you 
have any data on the number of homes in the borough that need gas boiler 
replacement, for instance? The proposed local plan summary, at 3.27, also clarifies 
the need for additional heritage design guidance. How are we assured that this 
guidance will not further inhibit necessary climate emergency retrofitting?  

Response: 

Thank you for your question. If I had advance notice of the specific statistics I would 
have a more substantial response, but I am proud of all the work that has gone into 
the Local Plan, and would like to thank council officers for pushing the parameters as 
far as we are currently legally able to do. The draft policies in the Local Plan will lead 
to a significant reduction in emissions in new and refurbished buildings, putting us 
well on track to meet the 2030 target. What we need is for other national and 
regional policies and for the government to go further to give boroughs like Islington 
the powers and resources we need to tackle issues like requiring retrofitting of 
existing buildings.

Quesiton (g) from Helena Farstad to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment & Transport: 

Islington Council's Climate emergency declaration and commitment to become net 
zero carbon by 2030 is demonstrating that you are taking the Climate Emergency 
seriously and are a truly progressive Council.  How will the Councillor look to 
communicate (channels e.g. social media/ printed press, advertising, collaboration 
with local groups & partnerships and frequency e.g. daily social media, weekly press, 
continuous marketing & advertising campaigns etc.) this important message to its 
residents, and the many future changes that will be required as part of meeting the 
target, recognising that behaviour changes and involvement of Islington’s residents 
and businesses is required to be successful in its quest?

Response: 

Thank you Helena for your question, and your kind words about the motion to 
declare and environment and climate emergency, which we have passed already this 
evening. Meeting this ambitious target of achieving a net zero carbon Islington by 
2030 will require an unprecedented effort from both the council, the wider 
community and others, including the government. 
 
Communicating and involving Islington’s residents, business, visitors and partners in 
the steps they can take to contribute to the overall target is vital. The council 
therefore will develop and deliver a sustained, high-profile, multi-channel campaign 
to explain very clearly the challenges, call for support and engage local people and 
partners in practical day to day behaviour change.
 

Page 17



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

We will also explain the work the council is doing, as this is about action. We will 
explain our work, alongside the work of partners, to reduce carbon emissions through  
strategic decisions; making the buildings we own or manage more efficient, 
improving the transport infrastructure to encourage walking and cycling and reduce 
emissions and launching initiatives such as our low plastic zones and our refill 
stations to support people to reduce plastic use. We will also support and amplify the 
efforts of partners and the community who share our ambitions and are taking 
action. 
 

As laid out in the motion, we will provide regular updates on progress, the first of 
which will be a report to Full Council in February 2020. We will also ensure that local 
people are able to contribute to the formulation and scrutiny of the strategic actions 
needed to address the environment and climate emergency by consulting on 
proposals and by organising an annual ‘Tackling the Environment and Climate 
Emergency’ meeting, hosted by our Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee, in addition to the wide-range of existing opportunities for local people to 
make representations to the Council.

Supplementary question: 

Thank you. What is the timeframe for rolling this out, and secondly please could you 
tell me the council’s plans for assessing progress on communicating with residents? 
Communicating with people on these issues can be difficult, so how can we assess 
that they understand the message and are on board with the council’s commitment?

Response: 

Thank you, these are important questions. We start now. We have passed the motion 
and we need to crack on. In terms of how we will measure success, how will we 
know that people have got the message, we will know by people who tell us we are 
not doing enough, we will know by those who tell us they don’t understand what we 
are doing, we will know by the people who tell us they want to see clear action. 
Because that will tell us if we haven’t communicated our actions clearly enough.  We 
will know if we haven’t communicated effectively when people tell us they just don’t 
understand what it all means and what this is all about. We will be working on this 
agenda with others, to raise awareness and understanding, because it’s really 
important that everybody gets this agenda. 

When we embarked on our campaign to address the scourge of diesel and its 
contribution to air pollution, we were the first council in the country to do so. We 
took on the industry at a time when nobody else would. We put the diesel surcharge 
on our resident parking permits and we communicated that message. Our residents 
were some of the first to be aware of these issues, they understood why that diesel 
surcharge is important. That is an example of how we can use our resources to 
deliver an agenda for change. It is a powerful agenda, but communication is very 
important and campaigning is what we are about as a council. We will campaign to 
deliver on this agenda and to amplify the voices of those residents who are 

Page 18



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

demanding change and action in response to this climate emergency. I hope you are 
reassured by our response today. 

Question (k) from Mx. A Doodle to Councillor Watts, Leader of the Council:  

Does the council provide documents in appropriate alternative formats for people 
with a range of reading impairments?

Response: 

Thank you for your question. The simple answer to your question is yes, all of our 
communications are available in a range of alternative formats. It’s really important 
to us that we make communications as accessible as possible to everyone. 
Depending on an individual’s requirement this could include braille, large print, easy 
read or sign language interpretation. Our standard letters and literature all include a 
prompt inviting people to contact us if they would like information in a different 
format. Each edition of our printed quarterly magazine, Islington Life, is also read out 
and recorded for Talking News Islington who distribute CDs and cassettes on our 
behalf. We build accessibility into all the guidelines we use for our website, all of the 
council’s website and copy, to ensure they are as widely used as possible. Our online 
communications can also be read by those using screen readers. These guidelines 
are subject to change and we are currently reviewing them in line with the latest 
advice. If there are any suggestions at all about further improvements that can be 
made then we would be delighted to hear them. Please either email me or contact 
the council’s Head of Communications.

Supplementary question: 

I have constantly struggled to get possibly the most widely used accessible format to 
be used by officers of the council. Tagged PDFs are in standard use everywhere else 
and they are very easy to produce, yet this council does not seem to understand 
what a tagged PDF is, let alone being able to produce one. The Sensory Team has 
wrongly informed council officers that PDFs are not accessible and it would be great 
if that advice was very quickly corrected. Will the council make it a requirement that 
all documents of any kind are provided to disabled and dyslexic people in the format 
of their choice? I stress that Tagged PDFs are possibly the widest used in terms of 
accessible documents and I am horrified that the council does not understand what 
they are or use them. Will the council ensure that it will use this platform, provide 
training to staff, and ensure that the very cheap software that is required to produce 
a tagged PDF from a scanned document is available in every single council 
department? 

Response: 

Thank you for that very helpful and useful question. I am sympathetic to your 
question and we will absolutely look at this. It’s a really helpful and constructive 
suggestion and we will do everything we can to make sure that happens. 

Page 19



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Question (j) from Sophie Talbot to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for Housing & 
Development: 

How many disabled people live in secure housing managed by the council?

Response: 

We have 6,264 disabled people living in council secure tenancies. It’s really important 
that council housing is there for disabled people and we do all that we can to make 
sure people live in homes which meet their requirements. This includes our 
programme of providing adaptations to people’s homes.

Supplementary question: 

I act as an advocate for a person with multiple disabilities. It is coming up to the 
second anniversary of my client first reporting damp in their council flat. After making 
a complaint they have been subject to a year of negligent patch repairs, disrespect 
from council officers talking down and patronising them. Social services have refused 
to risk assess the flat which means my client couldn’t employ carers or PAs, direct 
payments have been constantly delayed, the council has been unable to provide 
basic information leaving my client vulnerable and alone. Repairs has ignored, bullied 
and refused to speak to my client. My client’s mental and physical health has 
significantly deteriorated as a result of negligent repair works, a breach of the Human 
Rights Act, the Care Act and the Equality Act, and breaches of the general duty of 
care. The council fails to book temporary accommodation for the duration of works, 
causing stress, anxiety and panic for my client. Today I received a copy of the third 
report, from three different companies, showing their home is still damp and 
dangerously contaminated with high levels of toxic mould. At least one officer has 
said that they don’t believe the testing and my client is expected to move back in 
shortly. Councillors refuse to intervene saying the case is too complicated to 
understand or is above their paygrade. I believe this local authority is not fit for 
purpose to provide housing services to disabled people. I believe this council needs 
to look to good practice models like Hammersmith and Fulham and completely 
overhaul the way that services are provided to disabled people. I also believe that 
this council needs to start complying with the Care Act requirement to integrate 
services and the Equality Act requirement for reasonable adjustments. Will you 
commit to sort this out? 

Response: 

Thank you for raising this really important issue. We really appreciate you coming 
here tonight. I am very sorry for these issues and I do commit to doing everything I 
can to investigate this alongside the Corporate Director of Housing and offer you any 
assistance I can. As I understand it the flat is now undergoing repairs, if that isn’t the 
case I apologise, and I’m very happy to speak to you about this, and I promise to do 

Page 20



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

everything I can to investigate this and to make sure that your client has housing 
that is accessible and suitable to their needs. 

Question (h) from Kate Pothalingam to Councillor Burgess, Executive Member for 
Health & Social Care:

I would like to submit a question about the works to repair Highbury Pool which was 
so badly damaged in a fire on 25th September 2018.  This much loved and well-used 
community resource has been out of action for months and no information on the 
timetable for repairs is being provided to users - including the many Islington school 
children who now have to travel across the borough to alternative pools for their 
swimming lessons. It is also worrying to observe that the holes in the roof of the 
female changing rooms and over the main pool are not covered, but remain exposed 
to the elements, perhaps allowing further damage (e.g. from recent heavy rains). It 
would be helpful if the Council and management of the Leisure Centre could provide 
regular updates and take steps to keep residents better informed - particularly since 
we no longer have useful Ward Partnership meetings in Highbury East. Is it correct 
that an inspection of the roof steels only happened in mid-May, some 8 months after 
the fire, and that there is still no start date for the repair project?  

Response: 

Thank you for your question. I appreciate it is really frustrating that the pool at 
Highbury Leisure Centre remains closed. I’d like to assure you that we’ve been 
extremely busy behind the scenes. In the weeks following the fire priority was given 
to restoring partial services at the centre as quickly as possible. Once the safe areas 
of the leisure centre were secured, these were configured to provide gym equipment 
and classes. This was completed only ten weeks after the fire, which is quite an 
achievement. Due to the extent of the fire, it was known from the outset that 
restoring the pool would be a longer term project. Our focus shifted to the pool at 
the start of this year. We have protected the plant room, but it wasn’t feasible to 
cover all of the exposed areas. First of all, we needed a full assessment of the 
damage to see how much of the remaining infrastructure could be used and how 
much needed replacing. We are all keen for work to get underway quickly and I 
understand your frustration that it might seem that progress is slow, but we have to 
get it right. We want to reassure residents that we are working through the 
necessary processes. The good news is that our surveyor recently confirmed that 
much of the steelwork in the roof does not need to be replaced, which should reduce 
the timeline for the rebuild. The next steps include investigative works on the pool 
plant and the pool tanks which are currently full of debris. Once this is complete we 
will finalise the full scope of works and embark on the next stage of the rebuild 
project. Our best estimate – and I must stress this is an estimate at this stage – is 
that we will be able to re-open the pool in early 2021. Given the scale and complexity 
of the restoration and rebuild project there are other factors which could affect this, 
but we will update people as the project progresses. I note your point that people 
would like more regular updating and I will try to make sure that that happens. I’d 

Page 21



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

like to thank everyone for their continued patience as we push ahead with the 
reinstatement of the pool. 

Supplementary question: 

GLL Better who run Highbury Leisure Centre didn’t do a great job of cleaning it and 
maintaining it when they were running pool services. The changing rooms were 
disgusting and there were many complaints from users and members of Highbury 
Fields Association about that. When they managed the build of the extension, they 
failed to comply with the council’s own planning application and produced a building 
that didn’t meet the council’s criteria. Can the council ensure Islington residents that 
the pool rebuild is a priority, as there is nothing on GLL’s website at all, that you will 
closely supervise GLL to ensure the work starts as soon as possible and is completed 
to a high standard, and that there are no insurance or any other financial barriers to 
the work starting. 

Response: 

I have been promised that a report on this will go on the website shortly. I can 
certainly pledge that we will continue to do things as soon as possible. In terms of 
the cleanliness, there are user representatives who can be approached and who I 
know work very hard to make sure the facilities are kept up to the standard they 
should be. Please contact me, or the Centre Manager, if there are any issues there. 

Question (i) from Lucy Facer to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for Environment 
& Transport: 

Islington Council has only committed to installing 100 electric car charging points per 
year over the next four years. Do the council think this will make any impact on 
improving air quality or could they implement a much faster rate of installation like 
other London boroughs to facilitate a much more significant number of EV cars in the 
borough, and discourage petrol and diesel ownership by implementing higher parking 
tariffs?

As Lucy Facer was not present at the meeting, a written response was sent, as 
follows: 

I would like to thank you for your question.  Islington has committed to a minimum 
of 100 electric charge points per annum or a minimum of 400 by 2022 in order to 
help tackle the climate and environmental emergency we all face. This will also 
contribute to addressing air pollution by encouraging a move away from polluting 
diesel vehicles, including Euro VI diesels. We have called for the eradication of all 
diesel vehicles from London by 2025 and have already implemented a substantial 
diesel surcharge on resident parking permits and an additional surcharge on short 
stay parking towards bringing an end to diesel ownership and use, we remain one of 
the few boroughs to do so. 

Page 22



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Road transport accounts for the majority of NOx and PM10 emissions in Islington. 
Pure electric vehicles emit zero tail pipe emissions and they have the potential to 
significantly improve local air quality, and we are committed to encouraging those 
residents who cannot use other modes of travel, to switch to low emissions vehicles.

To support the ever growing number of residents switching to electric vehicles, 
Islington has already rolled out over 150 on-street charging points including our 
recent launch of innovative lamp column charging points. Our commitment to install 
a minimum of 400 charging points remains ambitious in, geographically, the second 
smallest London borough. However, we know that there are still parts of the borough 
that lack convenient access to public charging points and it’s important that we 
continue to ramp up our efforts to deliver a comprehensive charging network

Islington has also engaged in a wide range of activities to tackle air pollution and 
promote active travel (walking and cycling) and discourage car use, for example, we 
have piloted Zero Emission Streets in the streets surrounding Central Foundation 
School, implementing enforcement and banning all but electric vehicles at peak 
hours; we have delivered the most School Streets of any local authority area, which 
we will continue to roll out, where possible, for all schools in the borough; we have 
prioritised the transformation of key transport areas like Archway, Highbury Corner 
and Old Street to deliver safe spaces for cyclists and pedestrians and we will continue 
to deliver a wide range of projects to encourage even more residents to cycle, walk 
or use public transport. As a result of our efforts, activities and policies, Islington has 
the lowest car ownership of any borough and we will continue to take action to 
discourage petrol and diesel ownership towards tackling air pollution and meeting net 
zero carbon by 2030.
 

Question (l) from Rachael Swynnerton to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment & Transport: 

Air pollution from transport is of huge concern in particular to people living in inner 
city borough's like Islington. About 15% of Islington overall CO2 emissions stems 
from traffic and the annual legal mean limit of 40µg/m3 NO2 exposure is not upheld. 
Please note that the World Health Organisation guideline is for no human exposure to 
NO2 over 200 micrograms per cubic metre (ug/m3) measured over one hour.  The 
EU legal limit for exposure to NO2, also in UK law, is 18 hours in a calendar year. 
According to Clean Air in London (https://cleanair.london/legal/breathtaking-breach-
of-no2-annual-legal-limit-in-eight-days/), London is exceeding the legal limit of NO2 
exposure within the first month of the year.

Recognising that reducing air pollution is not exclusively within the Local Authority's 
control, it is however understood that local initiatives can have material positive 
impact. e.g stopping rat-runs through residential streets by introducing Low Traffic 
Neighbourhoods, regular borough-wide road closures, significantly increasing parking 
charges for all fossil fuel vehicles, reducing the number of parking spaces available, 
stopping endorsement of residential car use by the Islington roaming policy, actively 
and seriously targeting idling, banning wood burners, introducing outdoor air 

Page 23



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

filtration systems at most polluted roads (eg red routes), setting up green screens 
and overall greenery etc. Informing and educating the residents is also seen as 
effective as many still do not know the impact air pollution has on their health.

Can the Councillor identify what measures need to be taken, to reduce air pollution 
across the borough below EU legal limits before 2025?

Response: 

Thank you for your question, Rachael. Islington is a great place to live, work and 
visit. It has a diverse population, cultural opportunities and is home to many 
international businesses. But as you know, it is also a borough that faces challenges, 
Islington is the 24th most deprived borough in the country and has some of the 
highest poverty rates. We also know that levels of air pollution are poor and it is our 
residents who are having to deal with the impact this can have on health and life 
expectancy. 

To truly make Islington a fairer place for all we must improve air quality.  I’m proud 
that Islington has made a huge amount of progress in recent years and is leading the 
way in many areas by rolling out pioneering schemes and influencing London-wide 
policy. Whilst levels of pollution in the borough are improving, we know we must go 
further and faster to clean up our air. That why we have delivered a new Air Quality 
Strategy, which has gone out for public consultation. The strategy sets out our very 
bold plans and we will also incorporate some of the responses we have from the 
public too. 

Poor air quality in Islington is caused by a variety of factors, with damaging 
emissions from diesel buses, lorries and cars contributing to dangerous levels of 
pollutants in the air. We have already taken a number of ambitious steps to tackle 
the biggest issues, including introducing a ‘diesel surcharge’, whilst continuing our 
programme to install 400 more electric vehicle charging points across the borough by 
2022. We were proud to be the first borough to introduce a 20mph speed limit on 
our roads and to implement an engine idling ban. We will continue plans to improve 
air quality near local schools by closing streets at school opening and closing times 
where feasible and installing air quality monitors to find more ways that we can 
improve air quality. To do this agenda we need more investment from government 
and others. We cannot to this on our own, but we are pioneering and leading this 
agenda. 

Supplementary question: 

Thank you for your response. I welcome the strategy that you mentioned, although I 
don’t think it is clear what the council is going to be doing to measure the 
effectiveness of their plans and initiatives, how progress will be monitored, what 
measurements will be taken to work out the impacts of those strategies. Please could 
you explain? 

Page 24



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Response: 

One of the things we want to do is absolutely stop the long term negative impacts 
that air pollution has on our residents. We want to stop people dying from air 
pollution, it is a life and death matter. Air pollution causes 100 deaths a year and we 
want that to be zero. But our actions alone are not enough unless our neighbouring 
boroughs, London as a whole, and the EU take action. We know that London exceeds 
the safe limit for air pollution, we know that diesel causes high levels of air pollution, 
and we call on the Mayor of London to place a ban on diesel by 2025. That is what 
we have asked for London-wide because that is what we think is necessary to protect 
the residents of our borough.  These targets are about stopping the long term health 
impact and will be measured against that impact, but our actions cannot happen in 
isolation. Which is why I am proud of our work with Hackney, for example, on zero 
emissions streets, because what we did was protect the streets around Central 
Foundation School, the most polluted secondary school in London. We want to do 
more, and we will do more. 

Question (m) from Justin Portess to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment & Transport: 

Islington Clean Air Parents is a fast growing network of parents and carers concerned 
about the effects of air pollution on the health of their children. We welcome 
Islington’s initiative to implement the first 10 school streets, but parents all over 
Islington want to see school streets outside their children’s school and don’t want to 
wait until 2025. Please can councillors respond to parents’ concerns across the 
Borough and consider how to install School Streets outside all schools by the end of 
the next academic year?

As Justin Portess was not present at the meeting, a written response was sent, as 
follows: 

I’d like to start my response by thanking Islington Clean Air Parents for their support 
for our School Streets Programme. As I said to Youth Cllr Baker during the meeting, 
we are committed to taking bold action to improve air quality in the borough, 
particularly for our children and young people.   

We are working on a number of projects to improve air quality across the borough, 
including hitting a major milestone, earlier this month by opening our 10th school 
street in just over six months. Despite 70% cuts to our core funding from Central 
Government in a decade, we are committed to rolling out more school streets and 
I’m pleased to tell you that our ambition is to deliver School Streets, or similar, within 
our powers, for every school in the borough over this council term, which ends in 
2022, which is three years ahead of 2025.

It is important to recognise the need for appropriate consultation to take place on 
each scheme, which understandably takes time, But We are absolutely determined to 

Page 25



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

deliver to more of these schemes, and look forward to continuing to work with 
Islington Clean Air Parents to build even more support for School Streets.

Question (n) from Ernestas Jegorovas to Cllr Hull, Executive Member for Finance, 
Performance & Community Safety: 

How important is it that every citizen is enfranchised to take part in the democratic 
process does so without barriers? What percentage of European citizens in Islington 
were denied their vote in 2019 European Elections?

Response: 

Thank you for your question Ernestas. It is extremely important that every citizen is 
able to take part in the democratic process. Lots of work is done throughout the year 
and in the lead up to elections by our election teams to ensure that everyone that is 
eligible to vote is registered and able to vote if they want to.

For the European Parliamentary elections, European Union citizens can choose to 
vote in the UK or their country of origin. If an EU citizen chooses to vote in the UK, 
the law requires that they complete and return a UC1 form by the statutory deadline, 
which is set by the electoral commission. In Islington, no EU elector that returned 
their UC1 form by the statutory deadline this year was unable to vote at the 
European Parliamentary election on 23 May. Only those EU electors that either didn’t 
return the UC1 form or returned it after the statutory deadline were unable to vote, 
which I fully appreciate will have been extremely frustrating for them.

Letters including a UC1 form and business reply envelope were sent to all 17,515 EU 
nationals the week commencing 15 April and then a reminder email, again with a 
UC1 form, was sent on 27 April to the 13,500 EU electors that we held email 
addresses for. From the 15 April, any newly registered EU electors were sent the UC1 
form by post or email encouraging them to complete and return the form if they 
wanted to vote in Islington and this continued daily up until the 7 May deadline. The 
Islington Council Communications team updated the Islington website dedicating a 
page to the EU elections and the UC1 form was available to download. To publicise 
the fact that EU citizens had to complete the UC1 form the Islington Council 
Communication’s team sent out an election bulletin to about 5000 people on 2 May 
and The Islington Tribune ran an article on EU registration in which Maggie Kufeldt 
the Local Returning Officer gave a quote advising EU citizens on what to do if they 
wanted to vote in Islington. 

All of which is to say, that European Citizens in Islington were not denied the chance 
to vote, and Islington Council did everything it was meant to do, and more, to 
enfranchise the borough’s European citizens so they could cast their vote last month. 

Page 26



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Supplementary question: 

I think I was privileged because I applied on the last day online and I got an email to 
say that my form was received and that I had the right to vote. I know a few people 
in both Islington North and Islington South who didn’t get that confirmatory response 
once they replied by post. My question, looking forward to the London Elections, is 
what is the communications plan to make sure that people are aware what their 
rights are?

Response: 

My understanding is that the requirement to complete that form varies from election 
to election, so I’m not sure if it applies in the way that you describe, but regardless it 
is a lot easier to give people notice to fill in a form if the government gives us notice 
that there is an election. We didn’t know the election was happening until late in the 
day. This is completely the government’s fault due to their handling of the Brexit 
process. They gave us almost no notice and we still managed to get thousands of 
people signed up to vote and many more than elsewhere in London. If you look at 
the figures, only 24% of European citizens managed to register and vote in 2014. In 
2019 that figure rose to 30%. Nonetheless, 437 UC1 forms were received after the 
deadline, letters were sent to all of those electors, advising that their form was 
received late, and therefore they would not be able to vote in the election, as we 
didn’t want them to turn up to the polling station and not be able to cast their vote. 
We did everything we could to enfranchise everyone we could, we did better than 
other councils, we did better than four years ago, and we will do it better still in 
future. 

61 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

Question (a) from Councillor Clarke to Councillor O’Halloran, Executive Member for 
Community Development: 

Congratulations to Cllr O’Halloran on becoming the Executive Member for Community 
Development. Islington has a proud record of supporting the voluntary sector with its 
grants programme when other boroughs have gone down the route of 
commissioning.  Islington has also managed to sustain its many community centres 
throughout this period of massive government cuts to its budget.  

The Voluntary sector and our community centres are both important assets in our 
community, can Cllr O’Halloran confirm that we as a council will continue our 
commitment to fund the Voluntary sector and our support of community centres?

Response: 

Islington’s voluntary sector and our community centres are at the heart of our 
ambitions to be the best council in the country at early intervention and prevention. 
We are proud to have perhaps the most vibrant and dynamic voluntary sector of any 
local authority in the country, It’s a fantastic privilege to work with the many fantastic 

Page 27



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

voluntary and community organisations across Islington and see the important role 
they play in the lives of local people every day.

The sector reaches parts of the community that statutory services can’t, providing an 
extensive range of services that enable residents to thrive, give and connect. 
We firmly recognise the value of providing core grant funding to voluntary and 
community sector organisations that are key strategic partners of the council. 
Core grant funding is hardest type of funding for any voluntary sector organisation to 
obtain. The council’s commitment to core grant funding has helped create resilience 
in the sector and enabled the sector to bring in £18 million of grant funding into the 
borough in 2018.

This council has faced unprecedented financial pressures, by 2020 the government 
will have cut our core funding by 70%, with a further £50 million of central 
government cuts by 2022. Despite these challenges, we remain fully committed to 
core grant funding for Islington’s voluntary and community sector, including 
community centres, and are working across the council and with Islington CCG to 
renew financial commitments that are required to ensure that core grant funding 
remains a key part of our approach to supporting Islington’s voluntary and 
community sector. I anticipate that our new VCS Partnership Grants Programme will 
be launched later this year.

Supplementary question: 

Thanks very much. It is a great achievement that we have a vibrant voluntary sector 
supporting and enriching people’s lives. It is important to remember that previous 
administrations sold off community assets that cannot be replaced. Can we have 
reassurance that community facilities will not be sold off by this administration? 

Response: 

Thank you. I’m really proud of this council. We have protected community facilities, 
children’s play areas, libraries. This council is leading the way. Some councils don’t 
have a strong voluntary sector or don’t work with them; we do, and I can assure you 
that we will do everything we can to support them. We will not sell off our assets, in 
fact we are bringing services back in house. I’m happy to talk to anyone about this 
after the meeting. 

Question (b) from Councillor Heather to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for 
Housing & Development: 

It is of great concern to me that since the year 2000, Land Registry data, as reported 
by the Islington Gazette, shows that 3,136 council houses bought under Right to Buy 
in Islington by former tenants have been re-sold at a collective profit of £861million.  
Tenants who purchased publicly funded and owned council homes made an average 
profit of £153,260 each. Forty-nine properties were bought from the local authority 
for less than £20,000 and later re-sold for a combined total of £11.7m. 

Page 28



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

This may be within the law, but it is wrong and immoral when we have over 14,000 
households in Islington on the council’s housing waiting list and the council has lost 
70% of its funding from central government since 2010. And that is why the law on 
right to buy needs changing.  To his credit, Cllr Diarmaid Ward, Islington Council’s 
executive member for housing and development, is on the record as opposing the 
current right to buy laws as they have hampered our council’s ambitions to deliver 
council homes and genuinely affordable homes in the borough.

Given the critical nature of this issue for the council and its residents, can I ask if we 
can step-up our campaign to reform the wrongs of the Right to Buy laws?

Response: 

Thank you for your question. I couldn’t agree more. Right to Buy is in urgent need of 
reform. It is absolutely scandalous that when we face a housing crisis, the 
government is still offering massive discounts to people to sell-off vital council 
homes. What’s even worse is that the receipts from these sales are so tied up in 
government red tape that we simply can’t offer replacement homes. We can only use 
those right to buy receipts to fund a third of the cost of building council homes. We 
have to find the other two thirds ourselves. We have made repeated representations 
to the government on this issue, as have many other councils across London and 
elsewhere across the country, and we will keep doing so. Let’s sit down and talk 
about how we can combine our efforts to make the government see sense on Right 
to Buy. 

Supplementary question: 

Thank you Cllr Ward. I want to respond to Cllr Clarke’s point, on the selling off of 
community assets. There has never been such a bigger fraud perpetrated on the 
people of this country than the Right to Buy, flogging off community assets with 
subsidies is totally and utterly immoral. As you’ve already mentioned, not only are 
our assets sold off, but the income can’t be spent in full on replacing housing. We 
need to get rid of the Right to Buy, that’s for sure. I do welcome the article in the 
Gazette on this scandalous issue. It highlighted that some properties are sold to 
former tenants and are then sold on very quickly for enormous profits. I think that 
shows there could be something that needs looking into. I want to ensure no stone 
remains unturned in making sure we are looking into that, to make sure that there is 
no impropriety. Congratulations on raising that we need to look into this, but is this 
council doing everything it can to look into this issue? 

Response: 

Absolutely. All instances of housing fraud, including Right to Buy sales, are 
investigated very thoroughly. We see this for what this is, theft. Theft of public 
assets. Theft of genuinely affordable secure homes for local people. Our housing 
fraud team work in partnership with the conveyancing and valuations team to keep a 
close eye on Right to Buy sales. We have indeed challenged and stopped sales when 

Page 29



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

we have identified fraud. In fact, there have been four criminal convictions over the 
last five years, and also 33 properties have bene recovered in the last five years as a 
result of this. 

Question (f) from Councillor Russell to Councillor Una O’Halloran, Executive Member 
for Community Development:  

Does this council recognise non binary identities in all its work?

Response: 

Thank you Cllr Russell for your question. Islington is a wonderfully cohesive borough 
that has always celebrated the diversity of its residents. In recognition that Islington’s 
diversity is one of its greatest strengths, we take very seriously the right of all people 
in Islington to feel recognised for their unique identity and to feel included and 
valued in the scope of council services, and wider community. We are doing some 
work currently to make sure that inclusion of non-binary identities is referenced in all 
of the council’s various documents and policies. I know that there is always more to 
learn and I am very happy to meet with you and discuss any suggestions you would 
like to make to help Islington Council be even better in the future.

Supplementary question: 

Thank you Cllr O’Halloran for that very constructive answer. I’ve been told that 
standard letters and forms used by the council do not allow people to specify their 
use of pronoun or title. It also seems that some officers are not being supported to 
understand the importance of preferred gender pronouns or titles. Genderqueer 
people have told me they do not feel respected in interactions with the council. I 
welcome your offer of meeting, and wonder if you were prepared to set a timetable 
to update the forms and letters, and provide appropriate training to officers where 
this is needed. 

Response: 

Thank you for bringing this to my attention. I’m quite happy to meet afterwards to 
look at specific examples and in due course I’ll get back to you with a timeline. I’d be 
more than happy to. 

Question (c) from Councillor Poyser to Councillor Hull, Executive Member for Finance, 
Performance & Community Safety: 

Would councillor Hull like to support me in congratulating Islington Council, Haringey 
Council and TfL for co-operating in the construction of anti-suicide measures on 
Hornsey Lane Bridge this month?

Page 30



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Response: 

Thank you for your question. I’d like to echo your comments and I am very pleased 
to say that construction of the measures began on schedule. Officers at Haringey 
Council are confident that the works will be completed on schedule too, with the 
costs of the scheme being shared by the two local authorities and Transport for 
London. Once installation is complete, the scheme will be kept under review to 
ensure that the measures are effective at reducing the number of incidents on the 
bridge.  I would particularly like to thank the Police, Fire Brigade and ambulance 
services. All three services have worked very constructively with the two local 
authorities to agree and finalise the design. By taking this action the council is 
demonstrating that it is on the side of those who, for whatever reason, feel the need 
to take their own life. I sincerely hope that the actions we have taken will give at 
least some people in such awful circumstances pause for thought, as evidence from 
elsewhere suggests it should. I am aware that there has been some limited criticism 
of the measures we are taking, particularly on aesthetic grounds. One person wrote 
online ‘life is temporary anyway, but beauty is forever’. Another compared the 
installation to a Nazi concentration camp. Let me just state, unequivocally and on the 
record, that these are sentiments for which I have zero sympathy and even less 
respect. We have done the right thing. Those fences are there to protect people in 
the very darkest of places. It could be any of us and we should be proud of the steps 
we have taken to save lives and I will defend them to the hilt.  

Supplementary question: 

I would just like to add my personal thanks to the Junction ward councillors, 
Haringey councillors, Jeremy Corbyn MP who has campaigned on this issue for 15 
years, Catherine West MP who was on a demonstration recently about it, doctors in 
the Whittington A&E who have responded to suicide attempts for many years, 
psychiatrists from the suicide prevention group, local vicars and others from the 
community, council officers from both Islington and Haringey and particularly Karen 
Sullivan, our Director of Planning and Development, whose intervention in 
establishing CCTV has saved many lives. I would just like to ask if Cllr Hull has any 
more words for those people who feel these are the wrong measures, even though 
they have negotiated for 15 years in consultation with the Police, Fire Brigade and 
other experts.

Response: 

Thank you. I’d just urge local residents to put themselves in the shoes of the local 
mothers and fathers who have to open their door to a man or woman in uniform to 
be told that their son or daughter is dead. I urge local residents to read the research 
on this difficult subject which suggests that it making it harder to commit suicide at a 
given location can prevent someone from committing suicide at all. I am sure if local 
residents engage with this issue with their head and their heart then they will back 
the measures. It is the right course of action to take. 

Page 31



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

Question (d) from Councillor Turan to Councillor Burgess, Executive Member for 
Health & Social Care:

I am very honoured to be the Mental Health Champion for our beautiful Islington and 
would like the opportunity to thank Cllr Janet Burgess for her hard work in helping to 
make Islington a fairer place. 
 
According to the recent Islington CCG report, Islington has a higher prevalence of 
Serious Mental Illness (SMI) which is 1.5% compared to London (1.1%) and England 
(0.9%). Islington also has higher rates of hospital admission for mental ill health. It is 
anticipated that levels of mental ill-health might increase over the coming years due 
to a challenging economic environment, which I believe are significantly due to the 
politics of austerity by the government. What is Islington council doing to improve 
the determinants of mental health?

Response:

Thank you for your question. You are right about the prevalence of poor mental 
health in Islington. The council has a range of measures to tackle the problem; from 
prevention and building up resilience, to support for people living with mental ill 
health. We know that housing is an important determinant of mental health and that 
is why the council’s priority is to build more social housing and to improve services 
for those in social housing. We have a range of supported accommodation and other 
services for those with long term mental health needs that impact on their day to day 
living. The Income Maximisation Team help residents to access financial support and 
we also provide support to those in debt. The Islington Carers Hub provides advice, 
support and information to carers, including those who care for people with mental 
health needs. Violence, emotional and sexual abuse can have a significant impact on 
mental health, we provide dedicated support through a support and advocacy 
service, we commission the mental health recovery pathway which incorporates 
reablement, psychosocial services, day opportunities and a recovery café. We have 
three mental health day centres. We support residents across the health and care 
system through the social prescribing approach which relies on a link worker 
engaging with residents to facilitate access. Services such as Age UK, Help on Your 
Doorstep and SHINE also provide support. We know that poor mental health can 
start early on in life, so we have services for children and young people, including 
through Bright Start. We have commissioned a pilot involving two social prescribers 
working with a school, four or five GP surgeries and the Long Term Conditions 
service to understand how social prescribing can be used for that age group. We 
know that employment can be key to building resilience so we are working with 
employers to provide work experience and advice to secondary school children and 
we commission mental health working and employment support schemes to help 
those with mental health needs get back into work. We train staff to support people 
with mental health needs through our Make Every Contact Count programme. We 
commission mental health first aid training. Manor Gardens provides training for 
individuals who wish to become mental health champions. We will be developing a 
new strategy for mental health provision which is a key priority of our People 

Page 32



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

directorate. Cllr Turan, as our Mental Health Champion, you will be involved in 
supporting that. 

Question (e) from Councillor Russell to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for 
Housing & Development: 

Two years after the Grenfell Tower fire, are you confident that the council has 
resolved all outstanding issues of fire safety in council homes in the borough?  

Response: 

Thank you for your question. As a responsible landlord, we undertake regular Fire 
Risk Assessments of all our housing blocks. Following the tragic events at Grenfell 
Tower, we decided that we would undertake Fire Risk Assessments of all of our 126  
blocks of six storeys or more every year, rather than every three years, as legally 
required. The Fire Risk Assessments for all of these 126 blocks are available on the 
Council’s website. We have invested significant funds in the installation of wet rising 
mains to the two tallest housing blocks in the borough, upgrading communal and 
front entrance doors, installing emergency lighting and interlinked fire detection and 
warning systems, and a range of other fire safety work. The Hackitt review of 
building regulations, the Grenfell Inquiry and the Metropolitan Police investigation are 
all likely to recommend changes to the fire safety regime that councils and other 
landlords operate within and we continue to closely monitor developments in this 
area. We are also in regular contact with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government about their testing programmes. We continue to work hand in 
hand with the London Fire Brigade and are currently jointly trialling Premises 
Information Boxes with them in some of our most complex blocks. Resident safety is, 
and will continue to be, our top priority.   

Supplementary question: 

Thank you, that is very reassuring. I wanted to ask about fire doors. How many are 
still non-compliant in properties for which the council is responsible, and when do 
you expect them to be replaced? 

Response: 

Unfortunately, that’s not information I have to hand. We met before to discuss fire 
doors and I’m happy to meet again to talk through this. We are working very closely 
with the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government on this issue. 

Question (g) from Councillor Mackmurdie to Councillor Ward, Executive Member for 
Housing and Development: 

How is insourcing of all possible housing services progressing? What options are 
being pursued to speed this up?

Page 33



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

 
As Councillor Mackmurdie was not present, a written response was sent, as follows: 

It was great to see the report by Association for Public Service Excellence (APSE) 
published last month showing Islington Council has one of the biggest insourcing 
programmes in the country, with over £400m of services being brought back in-
house since 2011 which include many of our housing services. 

Following the insourcing of the repairs service in the summer of 2014, we have been 
actively considering where it is possible and prudent to pursue further insourcing. In 
summer 2015 we insourced the handyperson scheme, which undertakes minor works 
for those in receipt of care packages, carers and their families in Council-owned, 
housing association-owned and private homes across the borough. In 2017 we 
insourced the allocation of sheltered housing from Circle 33 into our Housing Needs 
team. We took the drainage function in-house in spring 2017, recruiting staff and 
procuring specialist equipment and vehicles in order to provide a better, more 
responsive service in this area. We are currently in the process of recruiting staff to 
undertake the cyclical testing of water temperatures in the Council’s water tanks 
(mainly in communal roof spaces of housing blocks but also in community centres, 
caretaker lodges, etc.). This function is part of the Council’s control mechanism 
against legionella. 

We are proud that the vast majority of housing services are now delivered in-house, 
but continue to seek opportunities for further insourcing.  We are currently 
considering whether it is possible to undertake some of our voids re-servicing work 
in-house, although we have to carefully balance capacity issues in this area so as not 
to adversely affect either day-to-day repairs performance or our voids turnaround 
times.  

Our largest insourcing project work currently underway is to prepare for the 
insourcing of the PFI2 contract, subject to a formal appraisal of its options for 
delivery of services in the future and demonstrating that bringing the homes back 
under council-management will provide good services and value for money for 
residents, will take place in the summer of 2022. This will involve taking on the 
management and maintenance of over 4,000 street properties and represents a 
significant increase in the scope of our direct services. 

The council is also engaged in buying back ex right to buy properties from private 
owners to directly manage as much needed temporary accommodation. Thank you 
for the question. 

62 ISLINGTON ARMED FORCES COMMUNITY COVENANT - ANNUAL UPDATE 

Councillor Poole moved the recommendations in the report. Councillor Burgess 
seconded. Councillor Russell contributed to the debate.

The recommendations in the report were put to the vote and CARRIED. 

Page 34



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

RESOLVED: 

That the activity over the past year to celebrate and support Armed Forces 
personnel, veterans, and their families be noted.

63 ISLINGTON LOCAL PLAN REVIEW - APPROVAL OF REGULATION 19 
PROPOSED SUBMISSION DRAFT DOCUMENTS FOR PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
AND SUBSEQUENT SUBMISSION TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

Councillor Ward moved the recommendations in the report. Councillor Shaikh 
seconded. Councillor Russell moved her amendment. Councillor Ward exercised his 
right of reply. 

The amendment was put to the vote and LOST. 

The recommendations in the report were put to the vote and CARRIED. 

RESOLVED:

(a) That the summary of consultation responses (at Appendix 4) received during 
public consultation undertaken between November 2018 and January 2019, 
and the comments on how these responses have been taken into account be 
noted. That the Corporate Director of Environment and Regeneration be 
authorised, in consultation with the Executive Member for Housing and 
Development, to undertake any significant changes to these documents and 
that officers in the Planning Service be authorised to make minor changes be 
agreed. The consultation statement will be published on the Council’s website 
alongside the Local Plan documents at Appendix 1, 2 and 3.

(b) That the draft Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) (at Appendix 5) be noted. 
The IIA assesses sustainability and equalities impacts of the draft plan, and 
will be submitted alongside the draft Plan. That the Residents Impact 
Assessment has also been produced (at Appendix 6) which links to the IIA 
information be noted. That the Corporate Director of Environment and 
Regeneration be authorised, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Housing and Development to undertake any significant changes to these 
documents and that officers in the Planning Service be authorised to make 
minor changes be agreed. The IIA will be published on the Council’s website 
alongside the Local Plan documents at Appendix 1, 2 and 3.

(c) That the Local Plan proposed submission draft documents (at Appendix 1, 2 
and 3) be approved for six weeks formal statutory consultation (Regulation 19 
stage) starting in September 2019, and subsequent submission to the Planning 
Inspectorate for Independent Examination.

Page 35



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

(d) That the Corporate Director of Environment and Regeneration, in consultation 
with the Executive Member for Housing and Development, be authorised to 
approve any further changes to the draft Local Plan ahead of public 
consultation in September 2019.

(e) That Corporate Director of Environment and Regeneration, in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Housing and Development, be authorised to 
approve appropriate changes to the Local Plan during Independent 
Examination, in response to requests from the Planning Inspector and/or any 
emerging evidence, guidance or legal advice and/or in response to the new 
London Plan, which is currently in the final stages of preparation.

64 CONSTITUTION UPDATE 

Councillor Gill moved the recommendations in the report. Councillor Hamitouche 
seconded. 

The recommendations were put to the vote and CARRIED. 

RESOLVED: 

(a) That the amendments to the Constitution be approved, as set out at Appendix 1 
to the report submitted. 

(b) That the Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2019/20 be adopted.

(c) That the Director of Law and Governance be authorised to make any 
consequential amendments to the Constitution considered necessary.

65 CHIEF WHIP'S REPORT 

Councillor Gill moved the recommendations in the report. Councillor Hamitouche 
seconded. 

The recommendations in the report were put to the vote and CARRIED. 

RESOLVED: 

(a) That Cllr Gill be appointed to the board of Camden and Islington NHS 
Foundation Trust for a 3 year term or until a successor is appointed.

(b) That Cllrs Kay and Khurana be appointed to the board of the Cripplegate 
Foundation from 14 September 2019 for a 5 year term or until successors are 
appointed.  

Page 36



London Borough of Islington

 27 June 2019

66 NOTICES OF MOTION 

Motion 2 – Protecting Local Welfare Assistance 

Councillor Hull moved the motion. Councillor Picknell seconded. Councillor Russell 
contributed to the debate. 

The motion was put to the vote and CARRIED. 

RESOLVED: 

(a) To maintain a Local Welfare Assistance Scheme (as part of its Resident Support 
Scheme) to support families and young people in crisis. 

(b) To continue to work across all council departments and with voluntary and 
community groups through the Islington Debt Coalition to support the borough’s 
residents to avoid and deal with financial crisis.

(c) To make further representations to central government for a new funding 
allocation for councils to provide Local Welfare Assistance Schemes (LWAS) to be 
made available at the next comprehensive spending review and for it to be 
protected in real terms over the following years.

The meeting closed at 10.25pm

MAYOR

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 25 July 2019

LONDON BOROUGH OF ISLINGTON

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING -  25 JULY 2019

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

At the extraordinary meeting of the Council held in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on 25 July 2019 at 7.00 pm.

Present:

Ismail
Bell-Bradford
Burgess
Champion
Chapman
Clarke
Clarke-Perry
Comer-Schwartz
Convery
Cutler
Debono
Fletcher
Gallagher
Gantly

Gill
Graham
Hamitouche
Hull
Hyde
Jeapes
Kay
Khondoker
Khurana
Klute
Nathan
Ngongo
Picknell
Poole

Poyser
Russell
Smith
Spall
Turan
Ward
Watts
Wayne
Webbe
Williamson
Woolf

The Mayor (Councillor Rakhia Ismail) in the Chair

67 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Caluori, Chowdhury, Heather, 
Lukes, O’Halloran, O’Sullivan and Shaikh. 

68 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
None. 

69 APPOINTMENT OF A NEW CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
Councillor Wayne moved the recommendation in the report. Councillor Watts 
seconded. 

The recommendation was put to the vote and CARRIED.

Page 39



London Borough of Islington

 25 July 2019

RESOLVED: 

That the appointment of Linzi Roberts-Egan as the new Chief Executive of Islington 
Council be approved. 

The meeting closed at 7:15pm

MAYOR

Page 40



COUNCIL MEETING – 26 SEPTEMBER 2019

PETITION DEBATE

 

Motion to debate the petition: ‘Declare a climate emergency in Islington 
and pledge to reach net zero emissions by 2030’

Moved by Cllr Claudia Webbe 
Seconded by Cllr Satnam Gill

This Council notes that:

 In October 2014 this Council agreed to introduce measures to encourage 
members of the public to actively participate in Full Council meetings, 
including allowing questions without notice to be asked of members of the 
Executive and the Chairs of Scrutiny committees, making it easier for 
members of the public to set up petitions by introducing e-petitions, and 
allowing a debate at an ordinary meeting of full Council if a petition attracts 
2,000 signatures or more.

 A petition was received at the Council meeting on 27 June 2019 which had 
over 2,000 signatures.

This Council resolves to:

 Continue to encourage residents to participate in local democracy by carefully 
considering the concerns raised in the petition and to undertake the debate in 
a spirit of openness and transparency.

The text of the petition is set out overleaf.

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



Petition received at the 27 June 2019 meeting of the Council

Declare a climate emergency in Islington and pledge to 
reach net zero emissions by 2030

We the undersigned are petitioning Islington Council because:

1. Humans have already caused irreversible climate change, the impacts of which 
are being felt around the world. Global temperatures have already increased by 1 
degree Celsius from pre-industrial levels. Atmospheric CO2 levels are above 400 
parts per million (ppm). This far exceeds the 350 ppm deemed to be a safe level for 
humanity;

2. In order to reduce the chance of runaway Global Warming and limit the effects of 
Climate Breakdown, it is imperative that we keep global warming below 1.5°C. This 
means reducing global net carbon emissions to zero by the middle of the century 
according to the IPCC;

3. The IPCC’s Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C, published in October, 
describes the enormous harm that a 2°C rise is likely to cause compared to a 1.5°C 
rise, and told us that limiting Global Warming to 1.5°C may still be possible with 
ambitious action from national and sub-national authorities, civil society, the private 
sector, indigenous peoples and local communities;

4. Individuals cannot be expected to make this reduction on their own. Society 
needs to change its laws, taxation, infrastructure, etc., to make low carbon living 
easier and the new norm;

5. Islington Council has already shown foresight and leadership when it comes to 
addressing the issue of Climate Breakdown by committing to decarbonise its pension 
fund, implementing a car-free development policy, and funding district heat 
networks and energy from waste production (among other achievements);

6. Unfortunately, our current plans and actions are not enough. The world is on 
track to overshoot the Paris Agreement targets. In order to have any chance of 
reaching net zero carbon emissions by 2050, the world’s wealthier countries and 
communities have a duty to lead the way and reduce emissions at a faster rate;

7. We welcome action by the London Assembly, Bristol City Council and other city 
councils around the world declaring and committing resources to tackling the Climate 
Emergency and becoming carbon neutral by 2030. We acknowledge that Islington 
does not have the powers and funding to meet this target in isolation, and will need 
to work with regional and national government to achieve net zero carbon 
emissions.

Page 42



8. Reducing carbon emissions and enabling a more sustainable way of life will result 
in a significant benefit to the health and wellbeing of people living in Islington.

References:

1. Fossil CO2 & GHG emissions of all world countries, 2017:
http://edgar.jrc.ec.europa.eu/overview.php?v=CO2andGHG1970-2016&dst=GHGpc

2. World Resources Institute: https://www.wri.org/blog/2018/10/8-things-you-need-
know-about-ipcc-15-c-report

3. The IPCC’s Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5ºC, pub 6/10/18: 
https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sr15/

4. Cross-party support for Bristol Climate Emergency measure: 
https://www.bristol247.com/news-and-features/news/bristol-declares-climate-
emergency-and-pledges-to-become-carbon-neutral-by-2030/

5. Green Party Bristol. (2018) Greens declare a Climate Emergency and bring 
Bristol’s CO2 emissions target forwards 20 years. Available at: 
https://bristolgreenparty.org.uk/news/greens-declare-a-climate-emergency-and-
bring-bristols-co2-emissions-target-forwards-20-years

Therefore we petition Islington council to resolve to:

1. Declare a ‘Climate Emergency’;

2. Pledge to make Islington carbon neutral by 2030, taking into account both 
production and consumption emissions (scope 1, 2 and 3)

3. Work with other governments (both within London, the UK and internationally) to 
determine and implement best practice methods to achieve net zero emissions;

4. Call on the Mayor of London and Westminster to provide the powers and 
resources to make the 2030 target possible;

5. Continue to work with partners across the borough to deliver this new goal 
through all relevant strategies and plans, ensuring that carbon emissions reductions 
are embedded in all Council decision making;

6. Report to the Full Council within 6 months with the actions the Council will take to 
address this emergency, including plans and milestones to tackle emissions 
reductions within the Council’s current control and plans to lobby other institutions to 
achieve reductions outside Islington’s direct control.

Page 43

http://edgar.jrc.ec.europa.eu/overview.php?v=CO2andGHG1970-2016&dst=GHGpc
https://www.wri.org/blog/2018/10/8-things-you-need-know-about-ipcc-15-c-report
https://www.wri.org/blog/2018/10/8-things-you-need-know-about-ipcc-15-c-report
https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sr15/
https://www.bristol247.com/news-and-features/news/bristol-declares-climate-emergency-and-pledges-to-become-carbon-neutral-by-2030/
https://www.bristol247.com/news-and-features/news/bristol-declares-climate-emergency-and-pledges-to-become-carbon-neutral-by-2030/
https://bristolgreenparty.org.uk/news/greens-declare-a-climate-emergency-and-bring-bristols-co2-emissions-target-forwards-20-years
https://bristolgreenparty.org.uk/news/greens-declare-a-climate-emergency-and-bring-bristols-co2-emissions-target-forwards-20-years


This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MEETING – 26 SEPTEMBER 2019

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

a Rose Pryce to Councillor Burgess, Executive Member for Health and 
Social Care:  

The dangers of EMF radiation from wireless technology have prompted the U.K. 
towns of Glastonbury, Frome and Totnes to apply the Precautionary Principle 
and halt the roll out of 5G. (The cities of Brussels & Geneva have done the same 
and there are many other worldwide campaigns to stop it). With zero studies to 
prove that 5G will be safe and considering its Duty Of Care, why isn’t Islington 
Council also putting the health of its community - particularly our children - first?

b John Hartley to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for Environment 
& Transport:

I was shocked to discover that Islington does not provide a food waste recycling 
service to many flats, including for example, Xchange Point in Market Road. 
Modern, gated, plenty of ground level storage areas, with a regular refuse and 
recycling service – this large block of flats does not have a food waste 
communal collecting point because Islington will not provide a collection service. 
Why does Islington fail to provide a food waste recycling service to 75% of its 
households?

c Richenda Walford to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment & Transport:

There are many items that can be recycled in Hornsey Street but to do so you 
have to arrive in a polluting motor vehicle.  Arrive at the recycling centre on foot 
or bike and you will be told to take your recycling away and arrange for a motor 
vehicle to collect it. Why does Islington discourage zero-carbon journeys in this 
way?

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



d Talia Hussain to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for Environment 
& Transport:

The draft Transport Strategy says that Islington will investigate the elimination 
of parking permits for diesel & petrol vehicles by 2030. At the same time, the 
target for privately owned cars is over 30,000, which suggests that Islington 
could see 30k electric vehicles on the streets by 2030. How many vehicle 
charging points will this require on our streets, how much will this cost and how 
will they be paid for?

Page 46



COUNCIL MEETING – 26 SEPTEMBER 2019

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

a Councillor Heather to Councillor Hull, Executive Member for Finance, 
Performance and Community Safety:  

Finsbury Park Ward is afflicted by a drug related crime crisis. The ward also has 
high levels of anti-social behaviour (ASB) related to business activities, with 
motor traffic offences being committed regularly by Uber and Deliveroo delivery 
drivers, servicing food and alcohol retailers, whose activities are proving to be 
incompatible with ethical trading and the well-being of residents living nearby.

In view of this situation, would you agree that in order to tackle these problems 
more effectively, the council and the police need to work together much more 
closely with people in the local community, and that to assist this cooperation 
the processes for reporting crime and ASB to the authorities, and the procedures 
for using CCTV to prevent and detect crime and ASB, need to be improved and 
communicated much more effectively to the public?  

b Councillor Clarke to Councillor Burgess, Executive Member for Health 
and Social Care: 

All councillors in Islington received a letter from Unite London Region about a 
month ago informing us about the Unite members dispute with GLL in Bromley – 
they have been on strike since 6th June this year. They are striking about staff 
cuts and to protect the service and staffing. They say that 70% of GLL staff are 
on zero hours contracts are not paid the London Living Wage (LLW.) They also 
state that GLL refuse to recognise trade unions.

As a user of GLL run leisure facilities in Islington I am concerned in case the 
problems Unite members are having in Bromley are happening in centres run by 
GLL in Islington. Some of my concerns are whether GLL Islington pay the LLW, 
whether they use zero hours contracts, whether they recognise trade unions and 
provide facility time for union reps, practicing collective bargaining.
I am also concerned about the accountability of the top level of managers in 
GLL and who they are answerable to. 

Can you confirm that we as a council support the workers in GLL and will work 
with GLL and the unions involved to ensure that workers’ rights to organise in a 
union are being protected, jobs are being protected and that GLL is adhering to 
our contract with them?  

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



c Councillor Russell to Councillor Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment and Transport: 

What lessons did you learn from car free day?

d Councillor Russell to Councillor O’Halloran, Executive Member for 
Community Development: 

Can you provide an update on the Council’s preparations for a No Deal Brexit?

Page 48



Page 1 of 5

Environment and Regeneration 
Town Hall, Upper Street, London N1 2UD

Report of: Executive Member for Environment and Transport 

Meeting of: Date: Ward(s):

Council  26 September 2019 Highbury East 

Delete as appropriate: Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Byelaw for the Management of Barbeques on 
Highbury Fields 

1. Synopsis

1.1 The decision to allow barbecues in Islington’s parks was taken in 2011 following a review of 
the management and enforcement of barbecues in parks across the borough.

1.2 The Council received a number of complaints in regard to the use of barbecues on 
Highbury Fields, particularly in relation to the smoke they could produce, but also 
associated noise.

1.3 After public consultation and provisional approval from the Secretary of State (SoS), this 
report proposes that the Council should proceed with making a byelaw to introduce 
controls as a necessary and proportionate way of providing the Council with the powers to 
better manage the use of barbecues on Highbury Fields and minimise the impact to local 
residents and other park users.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To note that the Council has now received provisional approval for the barbecue byelaw 
submitted to them on 14 June from the Secretary of State (see appendix 4), and further 
that the SoS has stated that subject to the consideration of any objections which the SoS 
may receive, the byelaws may be submitted to the department for confirmation if they are 
formally adopted by the Council.  

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 of 5

2.2 To resolve to adopt the Proposed Byelaws attached at Appendix 2, and proceed with the 
next steps to formalise the byelaw as outlined below.  

3. Background 

3.1 On the 2nd April 2019 a decision was made by the Corporate Director for Environment and 
Regeneration to proceed with applying to the Secretary of State for permission to make a 
byelaw to help us manage the use of barbecues at Highbury Fields. 

3.2 The terms of the draft byelaw that are proposed are:

* To restrict the area of Highbury Fields in which use of barbecues is permitted.
* Not to include any specific prohibition on the use of disposable barbecues within the
permitted area
* To include a time restriction to only allow the use of barbecues within the permitted area,
between the hours of 10am and 9pm on any given day.

The byelaw would require persons within Highbury Fields (including inside the permitted 
area) to comply with directions given by any authorised officer in relation to the placement, 
lighting, use, extinguishing or disposal of any barbecue or related paraphernalia. The 
byelaw would also allow the Council’s authorised officers to extinguish, seize or dispose of
any barbecue or related paraphernalia in Highbury Fields and any person offending against 
any of these byelaws may be removed from Highbury Fields by an authorised officer.

3.3 The consultation on the proposed byelaw occurred between the 7th February 2019 and the 
7th March 2019 achieving 647 survey responses. The consultation was widely promoted to 
residents, park users, community park groups, the Islington Friends of Parks Forum, 
Disability Action in Islington, the Metropolitan Police and London Fire Brigade. 

3.4 The consultation results clearly demonstrate public support for a byelaw to give the Council 
the ability to better manage the use of barbecues on Highbury Fields. (see appendix 1 for 
full consultation report). No changes have been made to the draft byelaw as a result of the 
consultation. 

3.5 On the 23rd July 2019 the Council received provisional approval from the Secretary of State 
to make the byelaw (see appendix 4). 

3.6 On the 12th August 2019, an update was sent to all respondents to the consultation that 
requested to be kept updated on the progress of making the byelaw. 

This resulted in three people contacting the Council to reiterate their request for barbeques 
to be banned outright and expressed concern at the additional costs associated with the 
cleaning and management of barbecues at Highbury Fields. 
     

3.7 One resident has also already made a representation to the SoS. The basis for the 
challenge is;

- the continued use of barbecues deprives and deters ALL actual and potential users 
of quiet and safe enjoyment of this public space.

- the smoke from barbeques generates causes health issues for users of the Fields 
and those living around them. 

Page 50



Page 3 of 5

3.8 Next Steps 

Once the byelaw has been made and sealed, the Council then advertises the byelaw, 
placing a notice in one or more local newspaper circulating in the area notifying the public 
of its intention to apply for confirmation of the byelaw, and holds the byelaw on deposit for 
a minimum of one month and inviting representations to the Secretary of State within the 
consultation period.

The Council will be notified of any representations received and which the Council must 
consider and provide a response to the issues raised prior to any application to the SoS for 
confirmation.

The Secretary of State then makes his decision on whether or not to confirm the byelaw.
Where objections have been received, the objections and the Council’s response to those 
objections will be considered and taken into account before a decision on confirmation is 
reached.

If the byelaw is confirmed and signed, it will be returned to the Council. Byelaws normally 
come into force one month from the date of confirmation, unless there are special 
circumstances which would make an earlier date desirable.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 The cost of administering the byelaw will be met from existing budgets

5. Legal Implications

5.1 The Council submitted an application for provisional approval of the Proposed Byelaws to 
the Secretary of State. This is a non- statutory step in accordance with the relevant 
Guidance. It is where the Secretary of State can say whether in principle, the Proposed 
Byelaws are in order. The Council received the Secretary of State’s provisional approval on 
23rd July 2019. 

Upon receipt of the provisional approval, the Council is required to formally adopt the 
Proposed Byelaws and then follow the statutory requirements of advertising and depositing 
the byelaw as set out in s236(4) and (5) of Local Government Act 1972. It is at that stage 
that members of the public will have a formal opportunity to respond to the advertisement 
and to make representations if they wish to the Secretary of State as to why the Byelaw 
should not be confirmed. The Council will be notified of any such representations and will 
be required to provide a response to the Secretary of State before he decides whether or 
not formally to confirm the Proposed Byelaws.

6. Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 
Islington by 2030

6.1 The proposed byelaw restricting barbecues to a certain area of Highbury Fields may lead to 
an improvement in air quality in other areas of the park during times of the year when 
barbecues are used, although it may worsen air quality in the proposed area if the 
concentration of barbecues in that area increases. However, as previously noted, smoke 
from barbecues is likely to be within acceptable air concentration levels. The proposals in 

Page 51



Page 4 of 5

this report are about better managing the existing use of Barbecues on Highbury Fields and 
any future overall net impact on carbon emissions is not possible to predict or quantify. 

7. Resident Impact Assessment  

7.1 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The Council has a duty to have 
due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in 
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to 
participate in public life. The Council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice 
and promote understanding. 
 

7.2 A Resident Impact Assessment was completed on 23rd November 2018 (attached at 
Appendix 3) and a summary is included below.

7.3 No negative impacts on people with protected characteristics were identified.  However, the 
byelaw will formalise the use of barbecues in Highbury Fields and be of benefit to people 
with protected characteristics who live around Highbury Fields.

8. Reason for recommendations

8.1 The consultation results clearly demonstrate public support for a byelaw to give the Council 
the ability to better manage the use of barbecues in Highbury Fields, protecting the 
freedom of people who want to enjoy a barbecue while also taking into account local 
concerns, minimising the impact on residents and other park users.

8.2 The byelaw will allow us to better manage the use of barbecues in the park in future, 
keeping them to a defined area and requiring that all barbecues be extinguished by 9pm.

8.3 Allowing barbecues in our parks has been very popular. Most Islington residents don’t have 
any private outdoor space, and the byelaw will preserve their right to barbecue in Highbury 
Fields, as long as they do so responsibly, cleanly and safely.

Appendices:

 Appendix 1 – Highbury Fields BBQ Consultation Report 
 Appendix 2 – Draft BBQ Byelaw 
 Appendix 3 – Resident Impact Assessment
 Appendix 4 -  Islington Provisional Approval Letter from Secretary of State 

Page 52



Page 5 of 5

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

16.9.19

Cllr Claudia Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment and Transport

Date

Report Author: Barry Emmerson
Tel: 020 7527 3762
Email: Barry.emmerson@islington.gov.uk 

Financial Implications  Author: Steve Abbott
Tel: 020 7527 2369
Email: Steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk 

Legal Implications Author: Quentin Paterson 
Tel:  X 4367 020 7527 4367
Email: Quentin.paterson@islington.gov.uk 

Page 53

mailto:Barry.emmerson@islington.gov.uk
mailto:Steve.abbott@islington.gov.uk
mailto:Quentin.paterson@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Highbury Fields Barbecue Byelaw Consultation Report

1. What was the consultation about?

The council has consulted on a proposal to introduce a byelaw on the use of
barbecues in Highbury Fields, in a move that both protects the
freedom of people who want to barbecue and takes into account local
concerns.

The proposal means that barbecues will continue to be allowed in Highbury
Fields, in a marked barbecue area on the west side of the field closest to
Highbury & Islington station. In order to better manage the situation
barbecues will also not be allowed to start before 10am and will have to be
extinguished by 9pm.

2. Who did the council consult with and how?

The consultation ran between the 7th February 2019 and the 7th March 2019.

Paper based consultation survey

To ensure that all residents living within a close proximity to Highbury Fields
were aware of the consultation and had an opportunity to comment, the
council arranged for a paper version of the consultation, to be delivered to
each property within a 500m radius of Highbury Fields.  This meant that
approximately 12,000 properties received the paper version of the
consultation.

In total the council received 218 paper responses to the consultation. 11 were
spoiled responses.

Online consultation survey

To ensure that those who did not live in the immediate local area knew about
the consultation and had an opportunity to comment, the council created an
online survey and advertised the consultation in the following way:

Appendix 1

Page 55



 Produced a press release which was sent to local papers with stories 
run in the: 

o Islington Gazette 
https://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/news/islington-council-
consulting-on-bbq-byelaw-for-extra-enforcement-powers-in-
highbury-fields-1-5883759  

o Islington Tribune: http://islingtontribune.com/article/highbury-
fields-bbq-consultation-begins   

 Put the consultation on the Islington Council website and sent out 
regular tweets to on the council twitter account advising people of the 
consultation and provided a link to the consultation form itself. The 
council sent out 9 tweets about the consultation which resulted in 220 
clicks, 28 retweets and a potential reach of 218,000.   

 
 The council put up posters at key points around Highbury Fields itself 

notifying casual users of the fields about the bye law consultation and 
where to find out more information.   

 

 The council wrote to the following key local stakeholder groups to 
advise them of the consultation and provided them with a link to the 
online consultation form. The council also wrote to: 

 
o The Police 
o The London Fire Brigade 
o Disability Action in Islington  

 
In total 429 online surveys were received.   

 
3. Results of the consultations  

 
     

No Question 
Number 

of 
responses 

Yes No 

1 
Do you support the introduction of a byelaw to provide 
the council with the ability to more effectively manage 
the impact of barbecues at Highbury Fields? 

647 68% 32% 

2 
Do you support the introduction of a designated BBQ 
area? 

647 61% 39% 

3 Do you support the location of a designated BBQ area 
as per the map below? 

647 47% 53% 

4 
Do you agree that barbecues should only be used 
between the hours of 10am and 9pm on any given 
day? 

647 54% 46% 

 
Whilst it is clear from the consultation documentation that this was not a 
consultation on whether responders supported the council’s policy to allow 
barbecues at Highbury Fields or not, a large number of responders decided to use 
this consultation as an opportunity to comment on the policy.  In total approximately 
31% of all responses to the consultation indicated that they did not want barbecues 

Page 56

https://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/news/islington-council-consulting-on-bbq-byelaw-for-extra-enforcement-powers-in-highbury-fields-1-5883759
https://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/news/islington-council-consulting-on-bbq-byelaw-for-extra-enforcement-powers-in-highbury-fields-1-5883759
https://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/news/islington-council-consulting-on-bbq-byelaw-for-extra-enforcement-powers-in-highbury-fields-1-5883759
http://islingtontribune.com/article/highbury-fields-bbq-consultation-begins
http://islingtontribune.com/article/highbury-fields-bbq-consultation-begins


to be permitted at Highbury Fields at all. The main reasons given for wanting 
barbecues banned were: 

 

 The smoke created from barbecues increases pollution levels, is bad for 
health and creates a nuisance for other park users and local residents.  

 The barbecues cause damage to the grass. 

 Those who barbecue leave large amounts of litter and do not discard the used 
barbecues in a safe way.  

 The policy to allow them has led to an increase in anti-social behaviour at 
Highbury Fields.   

 
The reason the council has highlighted this specific element is that this high level of 
anti-barbecue feeling in the responses has had a material impact on the overall 
results of the specific questions asked. Where responders voted “No” to each of the 
responses, the largest single reason given for voting “No” was that they did not want 
barbecues at all at Highbury Fields (see below table).   
 

  Voted No 

Question 1 43% 

Question 2 50% 

Question 3 35% 

Question 4 44% 

 
 
 

4. Results of each question and the recommendation  
 
Question 1: Do you support the introduction of a byelaw to provide the council with 
the ability to more effectively manage the impact of barbecues at Highbury Fields? 
 
Results: 69% support the introduction of a byelaw  
            31% are against the introduction of a byelaw   
 
The headline result from this question is that 69% of all respondents to the 
consultation supported the introduction of a byelaw to provide the council with the 
ability to more effectively manage the impact of barbecues at Highbury Fields.   
 
Summary of headline points raised by responders: 
 
• There is no need for any byelaw at all as people should be free to barbecue 

responsibly wherever they want to in Highbury Fields.   
• Concerns were raised about the cost to the council for policing the new 

byelaw.  Given the budget cuts the council is facing should the council still 
spending money on enforcing this? 

• The byelaw does not deal with the actual issue which is the smoke generated 
from the barbecues themselves.  There were calls to ban disposable 
barbecues which responders highlighted as the worst offenders for generating 
smoke.   

 

Page 57



Recommendation: Based on the high level of support the council recommends 
moving forward with the making of a new byelaw to allow the council to more 
effectively manage the impact of barbecues at Highbury Fields.  
 
Question 2: Do you support the introduction of a designated barbecue area?  

Results: 61% support the introduction of a designated barbecue area 
            39% are against the introduction of a designated barbecue area 
 
The headline result from this question shows that 61% of all the respondents 
supported the introduction of designated barbecue area?  
 
Summary of headline points raised by responders: 
 

 Responders did not feel that a designated area was required and that they 
should be able to barbecue anywhere in Highbury Fields.   

 
Recommendation: Based on the high level of support the council recommends 
moving forward with including the creation of a designated barbecue area in 
Highbury Fields. 
 
Question 3: Do you support the location of a designated barbecue area as per the 
map below? 
 
Results: 47% support the proposed location of the designated barbecue area 
            53% are against the proposed location of the designated barbecue area 
 
The headline result from this question shows that 53% of responders did not 
support with the location of the designated barbecue area.   
 
The main reason given by responders who did not support the location of the 
designated barbecue area, was that they did not support the use of barbecues at 
Highbury Fields at all (35%). Only 7% of all responders who commented did not feel 
that a designated barbecue area was required at all. A further 17% voted “No” to a 
designated area but did not comment as to why.    
 
As the consultation was not about whether barbecues should be allowed or not, if 
the “No” comments for those that do not want barbecues at all are discounted, 
support for the proposed designated area increases to 57% 
 
Summary of headline points raised by responders: 
 

 The designated area is too small and by locating all those wishing to have a 

barbecue in the same area, the council would create the following problems: 

o The grass will get very damaged in the designated area from people 

putting their barbecues directly on the grass consistently in one area.  

o The negative effects of the smoke from the barbecues will 

disproportionally effect those who: 

- Live closest to the designated area.  

- Who use the area itself 

Page 58



- Choose to use the main part of Highbury Fields.  

o When the weather is very good, the designated area may not be big 

enough to hold all the people wanting to barbecue.  

 The location of the area also raised the following concerns: 

o Area was too close to the children’s play area. 

o Dog walkers are disproportionally affected as the top two fields do not 

allow dogs and the field with the designated area is the main area for 

walking dogs.  

o The proposed designated area is too big and too close to resident’s 

homes. 

o The council should not allow barbecues near trees due to the risk.  

 Wanted more of the designated area under the trees to allow more 
opportunities to barbecue in the shade on hot days. 

 
Recommendation: Proceed with the creation of a designated barbecue area as per 
the proposed designated area.  
 
Question 4: Do you agree that barbecues should only be used between the hours 
of 10am and 9pm on any given day? 
 
Results: 54% support the proposed hours for the use of barbecues  
            46% are against the proposed hours for the use of barbecues 
 
The headline result from this question shows that 54% of responders supported the 
proposed hours for permitting barbecues at Highbury Fields.    
 
As with all other responses the main reason for responding “No” to the consultation 
was that they did not support the use of barbecues at Highbury Fields at all (43%).  
 
Only 4% of all responders did not feel that there should be any time restrictions at 
all. 
 
Summary of headline points raised by responders 
 

 10am is too early a start time and 9pm is too late.  Basically means people 
can still barbecue all day. 

 Don’t think there should be any time restriction and people should be free to 
barbecue whenever they want.  

 9pm is too early a finish time especially in the height of summer when it is 
light until after approximately 10pm.    

 
Recommendation: To proceed with making a byelaw restricting the hour’s 
barbecues are allowed to between 10am and 9pm.    
 
 
Conclusion  
 
In conclusion, based on the overall feedback to the consultation, there is clear 

support for the implementation of a byelaw to provide the council with the ability to 

better manage the use of barbecues at Highbury Fields.  

Page 59



The council balanced the outcomes from the consultation both from responders that 

wanted to see barbeques banned all together with responders who wanted them to 

continue.  

The council believes that the implementation of the byelaw is a necessary and 

proportionate way of providing the council with the powers to better manage the 

use of barbecues at Highbury Fields and minimise the impact to local residents and 

other park users. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



London Borough of Islington 

BYELAWS REGULATING THE USE OF 
BARBECUES ON HIGHBURY FIELDS  

ARRANGEMENT OF BYELAWS 

1. Interpretation

2. Application

3. Barbeques

4. Obstruction

5. Removal of offenders

6. Penalty

SCHEDULE – Map showing Highbury Fields and the Designated Barbecue Area 

Byelaws made under section 15 of the Open Spaces Act 1906 by the Mayor and 

Burgesses of the London Borough of Islington in relation to the area of open space 

known as Highbury Fields. 

Interpretation 

1. In these byelaws:

“the Council” means the Council of the London Borough of Islington; 

“Highbury Fields” means the areas of land coloured green and bounded in red on the 

map in the Schedule; 

“Designated Barbecue Area” means the area within Highbury Fields which is set aside 

for barbecues, bounded by the broken blue line on the map in the Schedule and 

thereon marked “BBQ AREA”; 

“barbecue” has its natural meaning and includes any item or items made, adapted or 

intended to be used for the cooking of food and any related purpose. 

“authorised officer” means any officer or contractor of the council and any constable or 

police community support officer. 

Application 

2. These byelaws apply to Highbury Fields.

3. Nothing in these byelaws shall be taken to repeal or otherwise modify the existing

byelaws applicable to Highbury Fields, being: 

Appendix 2

Page 63



 2 

 

(i) Byelaws in respect of Pleasure Grounds, Gardens, Open Spaces and Regent’s 

Canal Towpath made on 19 February 1976 and confirmed by the Secretary of State 

on 20 May 1976; and 

(ii) Byelaws in respect of Pleasure Grounds, Gardens and Open Spaces made on 12 

December 1979 and confirmed by the Secretary of State on 11 November 1980. 

 

Barbeques 

4. No person shall without the prior written consent of the Council light or use a 

barbeque or otherwise be in possession of a lit barbecue within Highbury Fields 

otherwise than 

(i) within the Designated Barbecue Area and 

(ii) between the hours of 10am and 9pm on 

any given day. 

5. Persons within Highbury Fields shall not possess, light, use, extinguish or dispose 

of any barbecue or related paraphernalia in such a manner as to cause or be likely to 

cause nuisance or annoyance to any person within or in the vicinity of Highbury Fields. 

6. Persons within Highbury Fields shall comply with directions given by any authorised 

officer in relation to the placement, lighting, use, extinguishing or disposal of any 

barbecue or related paraphernalia. 

7. Any authorised officer may extinguish, seize or dispose of any barbecue or related 

paraphernalia within Highbury Fields. 

Obstruction 

8. No person shall obstruct any authorised officer in the proper exercise of their powers 

under these byelaws. 

Removal of offenders 

9. Any person offending against any of these byelaws may be removed from Highbury 

Fields by an authorised officer. 

Penalty 

10. Any person offending against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 
 

Page 65



 4 

 

Page 66



www.islington.gov.uk 

Resident Impact Assessment 

Title of policy, procedure, function, service activity or financial 
decision: Bye laws for the management of BBQs at Highbury 
Fields 

Service Area: 

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function etc?

The creation of a new bye law to manage the use of BBQs at Highbury Fields.  The 
intended outcome is to restrict the use of BBQs to a designated area of Highbury Fields 
and to ensure that all BBQs are completed by 9pm.  The aim of the bylaw is to mitigate the 
potential impact of smoke arising from BBQs on park users and residents living in close 
proximity to the park.   

2. Resident Profile

Who is going to be impacted by this change i.e. residents/service users/tenants?  Please 
complete data for your service users. If your data does not fit into the categories in this table, 
please copy and paste your own table in the space below. Please refer to section 3.3 of the 
guidance for more information. 

Borough profile Service User profile 

Total: 206,285 Total: 206,285 

Gender Female 51% 51% 

Male 49% 49% 

Age Under 16 32,825 32,825 

16-24 29,418 29,418 

25-44 87,177 87,177 

45-64 38,669 38,669 

65+ 18,036 18,036 

Disability Disabled 16% 16% 

Non-disabled 84% 84% 

Sexual 
orientation 

LGBT No data No data 

Heterosexual/straight No data No data 

BME 52% 52% 

Appendix 3

Page 67



2 
 

Race White 48% 48% 

Religion or 
belief 

Christian 40% 40% 

Muslim 10% 10% 

Other 4.5% 4.5% 

No religion 30% 30% 

 Religion not stated 17% 17% 

Highbury Fields is available to be used by all Islington residents. 

 

 
3. Equality impacts 
 

With reference to the guidance, please describe what are the equality and socio-economic 
impacts for residents and what are the opportunities to challenge prejudice or promote 
understanding? 

 

The proposed bye law: 

 

• will not be discriminatory in any way for people with any of the protected 

characteristics as we are still allowing BBQs to take place and have not introduced 

any additional controls that would disproportionally impact anyone with a protected 

characteristic.    

 

• seeks to improve the relationship between all elements of the community and park 

users/local residents who object to the council’s policy of allowing BBQs but 

reducing the potential impact of BBQ related activities. 

 

• is not a strategic decision where inequalities associated with socio-economic 

disadvantage can be reduced. The proposed bye law does not disadvantage any 

socio-economically groups either as it still allows all groups to BBQ at Highbury 

Fields free of charge. 

 

 

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts 
 

a) Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches 

Please describe any safeguarding risks for children or vulnerable adults AND any potential 

human rights breaches that may occur as a result of the proposal? Please refer to section 

4.8 of the guidance for more information. 

 

There are no safeguarding risks for children or vulnerable adults. No human rights 

breaches will occur as a result of the proposal. 

 

 

If potential safeguarding and human rights risks are identified then please contact 
equalities@islington.gov.uk to discuss further:  

 Page 68

http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf
http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf


3 
 

 

 

 

 

5. Action 
 
How will you respond to the impacts that you have identified in sections 3 and 4, or address any 
gaps in data or information? 
For more information on identifying actions that will limit the negative impact of the policy for 
protected groups see the guidance. 
 
 

Action Responsible person or 
team  

Deadline 

 
No actions required 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 
 
 
Please send the completed RIA to equalites@islington.gov.uk and also make it publicly 
available online along with the relevant policy or service change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
guidance and using appropriate evidence. 

Staff member completing this form:  Head of Service or higher: 

Signed: Jerry Gutwin  Signed: Andrew Bedford  

Date: 07/11/2018  Date: 22/11/2018 

 

Page 69

http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
Fry 2NE 
2 Marsham Street 
Westminster 
London 
SW1P4DF 

e mail: urmi.solanki@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Mr Barry Emmerson 
Head of Parks  
Parks Service 
Islington Council 
PO Box 2025 
PERSHORE 
WR10 9BU 

by email Barry.Emmerson@islington.gov.uk 

23 July 2019 

Dear Mr Emmerson 

Islington Borough Council 
Byelaws Regulating the use of Barbecues on Highbury Fields 
Provisional approval 

Thank you for Islington Borough Council’s byelaw application of 14 June, seeking provisional 
approval to make byelaws under pleasure grounds, public walks and open spaces to regulate 
the use of barbecues on Highbury Fields.  

The Department has carefully considered the Council’s application in line with the 
Department’s scrutiny role as set out on the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government website at  
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100519235538/http://www.communities.gov.uk/loc
algovernment/360902/byelaws/localgovernmentlegislation/guidancenotesarrangements/  

Subject to the consideration of any objections which we may receive, the Council’s  
draft byelaws submitted to the department on 14 June, provisional approval for the byelaws 
has now been granted. 

In terms of next steps, subject to the consideration of any objections which we may receive, the 
byelaws may be submitted to the department for confirmation if they are formally adopted by 
the Council and submitted to us in accordance with the procedure set out in the guidance 
notes, which can be found on the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
website link referred to above.  

Any representations and objections received by the department during the statutory 
consultation period, which the Council may now proceed with, will be forwarded to the Council 
for comments, and will be taken into consideration when determining any application for 
confirmation. 

Appendix 4

Page 71

mailto:Barry.Emmerson@islington.gov.uk
mailto:Barry.Emmerson@islington.gov.uk
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100519235538/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/360902/byelaws/localgovernmentlegislation/guidancenotesarrangements/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100519235538/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/360902/byelaws/localgovernmentlegislation/guidancenotesarrangements/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100519235538/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/360902/byelaws/localgovernmentlegislation/guidancenotesarrangements/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100519235538/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/360902/byelaws/localgovernmentlegislation/guidancenotesarrangements/


Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 
Fry 2NE 
2 Marsham Street 
Westminster 
London 
SW1P4DF 

 

e mail: urmi.solanki@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

 

Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
Urmi Solanki 

Page 72



Page 1 of 5

Environment and Regeneration 
Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD

  Report of: Executive Member for Transport and Environment

Meeting of: Date: Ward(s):

Council 26 September 2019 All 

Delete as appropriate: Non-exempt

SUBJECT: London Councils’ Transport and Environment 
Committee – Governing Agreement Amendment for 
Greater London Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaw 

1. Synopsis

1.1 London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee (LCTEC) has proposed making a 
pan- London Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaw on behalf of all London boroughs to prohibit bike 
operators from parking dockless bikes anywhere other than at approved parking spaces 
across Greater London.

1.2 The byelaw would apply to all dockless hire vehicles, including e-scooters and other 
micromobility vehicles that might become legal to ride on the carriageway in future. 

1.3 LCTEC are proposing changes to their governing agreement to provide authority to make a 
byelaw regulating dockless vehicles on the highway and in other public places across 
London and manage such arrangements on behalf of all London local authorities.

1.4 In order for LCTEC to make a byelaw for regulating dockless vehicles across London, it is 
necessary for all 33 London local authorities to delegate authority to LCTEC to make this 
byelaw. This report therefore recommends that the Council resolves to delegate authority 
to LCTEC to make a byelaw as outlined in paragraph 3.5 below.

2. Recommendations

2.1 To agree to delegate authority to London Councils Transport and Environment Committee 
to make a byelaw to regulate dockless vehicles in Islington, as set out in paragraph 3.10 
below.

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



Page 2 of 5

2.2 To agree to authorise the Council’s Acting Director of Law and Governance to sign any 
necessary documents to give effect to the amendment to the London Councils’ Transport 
and Environment Committee Governing Agreement dated 13 December 2001 (as 
amended). 

3. Background

3.1 As a Council we are committed to encouraging more people to adopt sustainable transport 
options to both allow them to enjoy the health benefits this can bring, and to reduce toxic 
emissions motor traffic produces in the borough. Dockless bikes can play an important role 
in helping more people to cycle. 

3.2 Singapore company OBike brought about 400 dockless hire bikes to London in 2017. This 
was unsanctioned by boroughs and the bikes were removed by Hammersmith and Fulham 
Council under the Highways Act (1980) as obstructions. Since then, most dockless 
operators have worked in London boroughs by agreement.  However, we are also fully 
aware of some issues that have arisen with how the different companies have operated in 
the borough and elsewhere.

3.3 Whilst the Council currently has no legal powers to either prevent dockless bike companies 
from operating in the borough, or to do so in any particular way, in September 2017 the 
Council created a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), to be signed by any dockless 
cycle operators who wish to operate in Islington, which sets out clear standards and service 
guidelines, including procedures for reporting any bikes causing an obstruction to 
pedestrians. The Memorandum was necessary to ensure that we maintain a safe 
environment, particularly for pedestrians and vulnerable road users, who need to have 
access to footway space not blocked by dockless bikes left in unsafe and obstructive 
locations. The MoU allows the Council to ask operators to remove cycles that have been 
identified as a hazard and/or attracting anti-social behaviour at locations in the borough.

3.4 There are two codes of practice (Transport for London and Bikeplus), which ask operators 
to work in boroughs only where they have agreement with the authority. However, these 
are not legally binding and the Highways Act is no longer considered sufficient to remove 
dockless bikes in future. An example is Mobike whose bikes are deployed in several 
boroughs without agreement. In Islington there are currently three operators working 
under a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU). They have committed to encouraging 
responsible parking from their users and have Good Parking Guides, and all their bikes 
have geo-tracking so they can be located at all times. The Council also meets regularly with 
these operators to address any issues

3.5 At its meeting on 21 March 2019, London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee 
(LCTEC) agreed that the correct future approach for dockless bike sharing is to move away 
from the status quo, where boroughs reach individual agreements with specific operators, 
and instead move to borderless operations throughout Greater London. As an existing joint 
committee representing all of London’s local highway authorities, LCTEC agreed that it is a 
suitable body to undertake both the promotion and making of such pan-London byelaw. 

3.6 For LCTEC to be able to do this however, the London Councils’ TEC Agreement needs to be 
amended. At its meeting on 13 June 2019, LCTEC agreed to start the process of amending 
this agreement, to delegate the boroughs’ functions relating to making and promoting the 

Page 74



Page 3 of 5

pan-London dockless byelaw to the Transport and Environment Committee (see report at 
Appendix 1). 

3.7 The reason the agreement needs to be amended, is because the local authorities’ byelaw 
making function enabling the making of a pan-London byelaw for dockless bike parking is 
not currently delegated to LCTEC and the Joint Committee therefore does not currently 
have the authority to undertake this function on behalf of the London local authorities. (see 
Explanatory Note at Appendix 2).

3.8 The proposed delegation is highly restricted. The delegation is not a transfer of the 
Council’s’ powers in respect of dockless bikes parking to LCTEC, but just allows for LCTEC 
to make and promote a pan-London byelaw. There was no provision for this included when 
the LCTEC Agreement was first established.

3.9 Signing the amendment to the LCTEC Agreement does not mean any loss of control of the 
Council’s assets or powers, and the Council has been assured by LCTEC that the extent of 
dockless bike parking and the enforcement of the byelaw (including prosecution) in 
Islington would remain a matter for local decision-making and control, at the discretion of 
the Council.

3.10 LCTEC are requesting that each London local authority agree to the following amendment 
to the LCTEC Governing Agreement by way of an addition to the Part 3(D) Functions 
inserting a new paragraph 2(c), as follows:

(c)(i) The making of byelaws under section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972 (and, in 
respect of the City of London Corporation), under section 39 of the City of London (Various 
Powers) Act 1961) for the purpose of regulating dockless vehicles on the highway and / or 
public places (including by making it an offence for a dockless vehicle operator to cause or 
permit their dockless vehicles to be left of the public highway or public place other than in 
an approved location), including taking all related steps to promote, make, amend and 
revoke any such byelaw.

(c)(ii) The exercise of powers under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 for the purposes of 
giving effect to (i) above, including but not limited to oversight and management of the 
arrangements (but excluding prosecution off other enforcement).

3.11 Each of the London local authorities is requested to have approved and signed the 
delegation by 5 December 2019. See request at Appendix 3.

3.12 With the byelaw in place, the next steps for the Council would be to decide:
1. Approved parking spaces permitted for dockless bikes to park in. 
2. Whether the Council would create a new permit system for dockless operators or 

continue to use MoUs.
3. The fee level/mechanism to operators for the permit or MoU.
4. How the Council’s penalty system would operate.

3.13 By agreeing this delegation, the Council will be taking action alongside boroughs across 
London to ensure the benefits of cycling can be enjoyed by more people, whilst managing 
the operation of dockless bike companies in a more co-ordinated and impactful way.

Page 75



Page 4 of 5

4. Implications

4.1 Financial implications: 
In 2017/18 we secured income from two operators (Mobike and Ofo) and in 2018/19 we 
stand to secure income from three operators (Lime, Jump and Freebike). 

Under the new byelaw the Council could continue to work under an MoU with operators (or 
create a permit system) at similar price levels to the current MoUs.

4.2 Legal Implications:
In accordance with Section 101(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, two or more local 
authorities may discharge any of their functions jointly. Where arrangements are in force 
for them to do so, they may also arrange for the discharge of those functions by a joint 
committee of theirs. These powers enable the Council to delegate functions to LCTEC. 

The proposed delegation of functions to LCTEC set out in paragraph 3.7 of this report is 
required to be approved by full Council as those further functions include non-executive 
functions. 

4.3 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 
Islington by 2030:
Dockless bike hire consists of pedal cycles and electric bikes.  Both are sustainable forms of 
transport improving local air quality.  Electric bikes are zero carbon as long as they are 
charged with energy from a sustainable source.  Promoting bike hire therefore contributes 
to achieving net zero carbon by 2030.  

Any modal shift from motor vehicles to cycling (both pedal cycles and electric) would: 
 Reduce emissions and particulates
 Reduce traffic congestion

Any modal shift from motor vehicles to pedal cycling could: 
 Reduce health issues associated with inactivity

4.4 Resident Impact Assessment:  
The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and 
foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The Council has a duty to have 
due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in 
particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to 
participate in public life. The Council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice 
and promote understanding. 

A Residential Impact Assessment has been carried out (06/09/19) and is attached at 
Appendix 4. It found that all users of dockless hire vehicles, pedestrians and other road 
users will positively benefit from the minimum safety standards. Operators would be made 
more accountable in respect of responsible parking. Additionally, GPS chips will assist in 
reducing bike theft crime. Both would benefit all pedestrians using the public highway in 
the borough. Furthermore, ensuring an unobstructed footway is paramount to meeting the 
needs of disabled and/or persons with restricted mobility.

Page 76



Page 5 of 5

Council officers meet regularly with operators to address any issues and ensure that 
operators are working collaboratively and responsibly. These meetings also seek to widen 
participation in the schemes. 

5. Reason for recommendations

5.1 Approving the delegation to London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee will 
enable them to make a London-wide byelaw regulating the parking of dockless vehicles 
belonging to dockless operators. 

Appendices

1. LCTEC report on byelaw for dockless bicycles – 13.6.19  
2. LCTEC byelaw - Explanatory Note
3. LCTEC delegation letter to Chief Execs – 8.8.19
4. Delegation and byelaw Resident Impact Assessment

Background papers: none 

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

18.09.19

Cllr Claudia Webbe, Executive Member for 
Environment and Transport

Date

Report Author: David Shannon
Tel: 020 7527 4082
Email: david.shannn@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications  Author: Owen Darracott
Tel: 020 7527 2629
Email: owen.darracott@islingtn.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author: David Daniels
Tel: 020 7527 3277
Email: david.daniels@islington.gov.uk

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Dockless Bycicles – London-wide Byelaw London Councils’ TEC – 11 June 2019 
Agenda Item 14,  Page 1 

London Councils’ Transport and 
Environment Committee  

Dockless Bicycles – 
Londonwide Byelaw 

Item No: 14 

Report by: Mike Beevor Job title: Senior Policy Manager, TfL 

Date: 13 June 2019 

Contact Officer: Katharina Winbeck 

Telephone: 020 7934 9945 Email:Katharina.winbeck@londoncoun
cils.gov.uk 

Summary: This report updates TEC on the proposed pan-London parking 
byelaw for the regulation of dockless bicycle hire schemes in 
London. The report asks TEC to agree to start the process of 
amending the TEC agreement to delegate the boroughs’ functions 
relating to making the pan-London byelaw to TEC. 

Recommendations: Members are asked to: 

1. Note the report

2. Agree to consult on and seek written agreement from all
London local authorities and TfL to amend the LCTEC
agreement as outlined in paragraph 10.

Appendix 1

Page 79



Dockless Bycicles – London-wide Byelaw     London Councils’ TEC – 11 June 2019 
Agenda Item 14,  Page 2 

 
 

Overview 
1. TEC has previously agreed that the correct future approach for dockless bike sharing is to 

move away from the status quo, where Boroughs reach individual agreements with specific 
operators, and instead move to borderless operations throughout Greater London.  

2. Controlling bike fleets would be achieved by Boroughs using existing powers to designate 
parking places for dockless bikes, and (following the necessary delegation of powers and 
subject to the byelaw making procedures) TEC promoting a pan-London bye-law on 
Boroughs’ behalf to prohibit bike operators from parking dockless bikes other than at 
approved parking places.  

3. At the TEC meeting on 21 March, the Committee was informed that dockless bike operators 
had been briefed on the outline approach, and discussions between TfL, London Councils 
and Borough Officers were under way to ensure the draft bylaw provided the right controls, 
and sufficient scope to enable boroughs to retain control of how schemes were managed 
locally. 

Dockless market update 
4. There are currently several dockless bike operators working in London, or about to launch: 

• Mobike continues to provide pedal bikes, mostly in Central and Inner London;  

• Lime provides e-bikes through agreements with several London Boroughs and at 
selected Thameslink rail stations; 

• JUMP launched its first e-bikes in May in Islington and will presumably expand; 

• Freebike & Beryl have been chosen by the City for a 6-month trial beginning this 
month; and 

• Youon have yet to launch but have been in contact with boroughs with regard to 
launching a fleet of pedal bikes. 

As such there is likely to be an ongoing need to manage dockless bike sharing schemes, 
and boroughs’ concerns regarding the impacts of inconsiderate parking of dockless bikes 
remain - including the impacts on the comfort and convenience of other highway users.  

Byelaw Update  
5. A draft byelaw has now been shared with borough officers, and detailed discussions have 

been held on its precise wording. While these discussions have yet to conclude, in headline 
terms, the draft text: 

• Defines several terms used in the draft Byelaw currently undefined in legislation 
(e.g. a dockless operator); 

• States that the byelaw applies throughout Greater London; 

• Sets out minimum safety standards for bikes; 

• Requires all bikes to be chipped to ensure their whereabouts can always be tracked; 

• Requires all bikes to be left (whether by dockless operators or their customers) only 
in places agreed by the relevant local authority, and makes it an offence for dockless 
operators to place or allow their bikes to be parked anywhere other than at a location 
agreed by the local authority; and 

• Sets a penalty for a dockless operator committing the offence. 
6. The drafted wording covers dockless bikes and e-bikes and could apply to electric kick 

scooters or other micromobility vehicles. Local issues, such as how many or how few 
parking places to approve and where they should be located, are all left for individual 

Page 80



Dockless Bycicles – London-wide Byelaw     London Councils’ TEC – 11 June 2019 
Agenda Item 14,  Page 3 

 
 

authorities to decide depending on their local circumstances. It is envisaged that approved 
spaces would not be exclusive to specific operators, but would be open to other dockless 
companies, to facilitate journeys across borough boundaries. Points of detail on the final 
wording are now being considered, and several additional areas of work are being 
developed, for the byelaw to give rise to a viable operational framework for dockless bike 
sharing in London.  

7. The additional work, which is to be developed in partnership with borough officers, will 
cover: 

• Preparation of guidance on how enforcement will be undertaken and managed; 

• The collection, management and provision of data that informs dockless customers 
and other highway users where you can and can’t park dockless vehicles;  

• Proposed procedures for designating or approving parking spaces; and  

• How boroughs may charge operators for the use of the parking spaces they make 
available.  

TfL is also keeping officials in central Government informed on progress. 

Amending the TEC Agreement 

8. TEC resolutions to date together with detailed feedback received from borough officers 
indicates broad consensus regarding the proposed pan-London approach and the Byelaw 
proposal in principle. 
 

9. It is not considered practicable for the same Byelaw to be made, by 33 London boroughs. 
The making of one Byelaw across all the London boroughs would be more appropriate 
and would require each of the 33 London local authorities participating in the TEC joint 
committee arrangements to delegate the exercise of additional functions to the joint 
committee, which requires the TEC constitution (Governing Agreement, dated 13 
December 2001 (as amended)) to be varied.  
 

10. An appropriate amendment would be by way of an addition to the Part 3(D) Functions, 
inserting a new paragraph 2(c) as follows: 
 

“(c)(i) the making of byelaws under section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972 (and, in 
respect of the City of London Corporation, under section 39 of the City of London (Various 
Powers) Act 1961) for the purpose of regulating dockless vehicles on the highway and/or 
public places (including by making it an offence for a dockless vehicle operator to cause or 
permit their dockless vehicle to be left on the highway or public place other than in an 
approved location), including taking all related steps to promote, make, amend and revoke 
any such byelaw. 
 
(c)(ii) The exercise of powers under Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 for the purposes of 
giving effect to (i) above, including but not limited to oversight and management of the 
arrangements (but excluding prosecution or other enforcement) 
 

 
a. Amendments to Part 3(D) are not minor variations for the purposes of Clause 15 

of the LCTEC Governing Agreement, but are made by the procedure set out in 
Paragraph 3(D) 1 of the LCTEC Agreement which provides an alternative process 
for delegating the exercise of functions to the joint committee without requiring a 
separate formal variation agreement to be agreed by each authority before the 
delegation to the joint committee is effective.  The procedure was adopted under 
an earlier formal variation to the Governing Agreement with the consent of all the 

Page 81



Dockless Bycicles – London-wide Byelaw     London Councils’ TEC – 11 June 2019 
Agenda Item 14,  Page 4 

 
 

London local authorities and TfL and provides that the functions may be delegated 
by each London local authority to operate under the existing terms of the 
Governing Agreement “subject to consultation with the Participating Councils and 
the written agreement of each Participating Council”. (An updated copy of any 
amended Part 3(D) must also be provided). Past experience shows that gaining 
consent in this way from all London local authorities can take time. It is therefore 
proposed that the process commence now. 

 

Proposal and Next Steps 
11. The full wording of the byelaw has not yet been finalised, and the work mentioned above 

(that is to be undertaken in partnership with borough officers) is ongoing.  
12. The draft byelaw will need to be consulted upon and will need to include  

(i) the draft byelaw 
(ii) an assessment of the regulatory burden and whether it is proportionate, informed 

by consultation with affected persons; and  
(iii) a statement assessing the impacts of the proposal and the proportionality of the 

regulatory burden.  
13. It is proposed that in addition to the process of delegation of powers proposed in this 

report, a further report is made to TEC in October for  
(i) Approval of the final wording of the draft byelaw;  
(ii) Delegated authority for the regulatory burden and impact assessments to be finalised 
by officers;  
(iii) Authority to seek Ministerial approval of the byelaw (and in relation to a byelaw made 
pursuant to power delegated by the City of London Corporation, Ministerial confirmation 
of the byelaw); and 
(iv) Authority to commence stakeholder consultation.    
Borough officers and legal teams will be given sight of the proposed final documents prior 
to TEC being asked to agree the above, but it is nevertheless recommended that the 
consultation phase of the delegation process commence now, given the potential time 
required.   
 

 
Recommendations: 

 

The Committee is asked to: 

1. Note the report 

2. Agree to consult on and seek written agreement from all London 
local authorities and TfL to amend the LCTEC agreement as 
outlined in paragraph 10. 

 
  

Page 82



Dockless Bycicles – London-wide Byelaw     London Councils’ TEC – 11 June 2019 
Agenda Item 14,  Page 5 

 
 

Financial implications for London Councils 
14. To be discussed in light of any further legal support that may be required. 

Legal implications for London Councils 
15. All implications are contained in the body of the report. 

Equalities implications for London Councils 
16. Addressing inappropriate parking of dockless bikes on the highway in a manner which 

causes inconvenience or disruption to highway users would help meet the needs of all 
highway users, particularly those who are blind or partially sighted and those who require 
wider available footways such as for wheelchairs or buggies.  

 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



London Councils TEC Delegation dockless byelaw – Explanatory note 

After detailed discussions at London Councils TEC, it has been agreed that London Councils 
should seek amendments to the London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee 
Agreement (LC TEC Agreement) that would allow London Councils TEC to widen the scope 
of its current ability to make and promote the proposed pan-London byelaw on boroughs’ 
behalf to prohibit bike operators from parking dockless bikes other than at approved parking 
spaces. 

We are aware that some boroughs might have questions about the delegation process and 
have therefore developed this explanatory note to provide further information.  

At the meeting on 21 March 2019, LC TEC agreed that the correct future approach for 
dockless bike sharing is to move away from the status quo, where Boroughs reach individual 
agreements with specific operators, and instead move to borderless operations throughout 
Greater London. As an existing joint committee representing all of London’s local highway 
authorities, LC TEC has agreed that it is a suitable body to undertake both the promotion 
and making of such pan-London byelaw.  

For TEC to be able to do this, however, the LC TEC Agreement needs to be amended. At 
the meeting on 13 June 2019, LC TEC agreed to start the process of amending the LC TEC 
agreement to delegate the boroughs’ functions relating to making and promoting the pan-
London dockless byelaw to TEC. The reason the Agreement needs to be amended is 
because none of the local authorities’ functions relating to the making of a pan-London 
byelaw for dockless bikes parking are currently delegated as functions of LC TEC and the 
Committee therefore does not currently have the legal authority to undertake this function on 
behalf of the London local authorities.  

The proposed delegation is highly restricted. The delegation is not a transfer of the 
authorities’ powers in respect of dockless bikes parking to LC TEC but allows for LC TEC to 
make and promote a pan-London byelaw. There was no provision for this included when the 
LC TEC Agreement was first established.  

Signing the amendment to the LC TEC Agreement does not mean any loss of control of your 
assets or powers. Every authority can be assured that the extent of dockless bike parking 
and the enforcement of the byelaw would be a matter for local decision-making and control, 
at the discretion of each London borough. 

However, without all authorities signing the variation to the LC TEC Agreement the 
Committee would be unable to take on the promotions and making of this new byelaw. We 
are therefore asking authorities to go through their individual processes and return a signed 
declaration by 5 December 2019.  

A copy of the draft byelaw is also enclosed with the delegation document and this 
clarification note. Please could you provide any further feedback on the text of the byelaw no 
later than 6 September 2019, to allow further changes to be considered. We intend to ask 
LC TEC members to sign off the wording of the byelaw at the TEC meeting on 10th October 
2019. This will enable other essential procedural parts of the process for making the byelaw 
to be taken forward while the process of delegating powers continues in parallel. 

We hope that this provides more clarity on some of the issues raised and enables you to 
sign the amendment. If you have any questions about this process, please contact Paulius 
Mackela on Paulius.Mackela@londoncouncils@londoncouncils.gov.uk or 020 7934 9832. To 
enable us to track progress, we would also be grateful if you could confirm receipt and 
provide contact details for the officer who will be leading on this matter for you. 

Appendix 2

Page 85

mailto:Paulius.Mackela@londoncouncils@londoncouncils.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



All London Borough Chief Executives 

Cc Borough TEC representatives, 
And Borough Directors 

Contact: Paulius Mackela 
Direct line: 020 7934 9829 
Fax: 
Email: Paulius.mackela@londoncouncils.gov.

uk 

Our 
reference: 
Your 
reference: 
Date: 8 August 2019 

Dear London Borough Chief Executive, 

London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee (TEC) Delegation for the 
Regulation of Dockless Bicycle Hire Schemes - Action to be completed by 5 
December 2019 

At its meeting on 13 June 2019 London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee 
(TEC) considered the attached report proposing amendments to the TEC Agreement in 
support of the proposed pan-London parking byelaw for the regulation of dockless bicycle 
hire schemes in London. The proposal is for the London Boroughs to provide London 
Councils’ TEC with the authority to take on the promotion and making of a pan-London 
byelaw on boroughs’ behalf to prohibit bike operators from parking dockless bikes other 
than at approved parking spaces.  

As an existing joint committee representing all of London’s local authorities, London 
Councils’ TEC has agreed that it is a suitable body to undertake both the promotion and 
making of the pan-London byelaw.   

While the shared view is that there should be a pan-London regime in order to address the 
cross-boundary operation of dockless bicycle hire schemes, the extent of dockless bike 
parking and the enforcement of the byelaw would be a matter for local decision-making and 
control, at the discretion of each Borough.  

I would therefore be grateful if you could forward this to the relevant officer within your 
authority for them to consider and arrange for the delegation to be signed and returned by 5 
December 2019.  

If you have any questions about this proposal, please contact my colleague Paulius Mackela 
on Paulius.Mackela@londoncouncils.gov.uk or 020 7934 9829. To enable us to track 
progress, I would also be grateful if you could confirm receipt and provide contact details for 
the officer who will be leading on this matter for you. 

Appendix 3

Page 87

mailto:Paulius.Mackela@londoncouncils.gov.uk


Page 2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Spencer Palmer 
Director, Transport and Mobility 

Page 88



Page 3 

 

 

 
 
To: London Councils 
59 ½ Southwark Street 
London  
SE1 0AL 
 
FAO: Paulius Mackela 
 
 
 
I……………………………………………………[name and position of authorised person] 
 
on behalf of……………………………………………………………….. [name of authority] 
 
hereby confirm that my authority has resolved to delegate authority to London 
Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee to exercise the following functions by 
way of an addition to the Part 3(D) Functions, inserting a new paragraph 2(c) as 
follows:  
 
“(c)(i) the making of byelaws under section 235 of the Local Government Act 1972 
(and, in respect of the City of London Corporation, under section 39 of the City of 
London (Various Powers) Act 1961) for the purpose of regulating dockless vehicles 
on the highway and/or public places (including by making it an offence for a dockless 
vehicle operator to cause or permit their dockless vehicle to be left on the highway or 
public place other than in an approved location), including taking all related steps to 
promote, make, amend and revoke any such byelaw. 
 
(c)(ii) The exercise of powers under Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 for the 
purposes of giving effect to (i) above, including but not limited to oversight and 
management of the arrangements (but excluding prosecution or other enforcement) 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed  
 
 
 
……………………………………. 
 
 
Date 
 
 
……………………………………. 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4
www.islington.gov.uk

Resident Impact Assessment

Title of policy, procedure, function, service activity or financial 
decision: Greater London Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaw

Service Area: Environment and Regeneration

1. What are the intended outcomes of this policy, function, etc? 
The London Councils Transport and Environment Committee (LCTEC) has proposed a Greater London 
Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaw on the boroughs’ behalf to prohibit bike operators from parking dockless 
bikes anywhere other than at approved parking spaces. This byelaw would apply across all London 
boroughs.

The byelaw applies to all dockless hire vehicles, including e-scooters and other micromobility vehicles 
that might become legal to ride on the carriageway in future.

The desired outcome is to regulate and licence dockless vehicle hire firms (who might otherwise have a 
free hand) in line with other London boroughs.

2. Resident Profile
.

Borough profile Service User profile
Total: 206,285 Total: 

Female 51% AllGender
Male 49% All
Under 16 32,825 All
16-24 29,418 All
25-44 87,177 All
45-64 38,669 All

Age

65+ 18,036 All
Disabled 16% AllDisability
Non-disabled 84% All
LGBT No data AllSexual 

orientation Heterosexual/straight No data All

Page 91



2

BME 52% AllRace
White 48% All
Christian 40% All
Muslim 10% All
Other 4.5% All

Religion or 
belief

No religion 30% All
Religion not stated 17% All

3. Equality impacts

With reference to the guidance, please describe what are the equality and socio-economic 
impacts for residents and what are the opportunities to challenge prejudice or promote 
understanding?

Clause 1 The byelaw defines several terms used in the draft Byelaw currently 
undefined in legislation (eg a dockless operator). 

Clause 2 The byelaw allows all London boroughs (clause 2) access to controls 
over dockless hire operators.
 
Clause 3 Sets out minimum safety standards for dockless vehicles.
All users of dockless hire vehicles, pedestrians and other road users will positively benefit 
from these minimum standards.

Clause 4 Requires all bikes to be chipped to ensure their whereabouts can 
always be tracked and asset numbers clearly displayed. 
These measures will make operators accountable in respect of responsible parking. 
Additionally, GPS chips will assist in reducing bike theft crime.

Clause 5 and 6 Dockless Vehicles can only be parked in areas designated by the 
Council and non-compliance would make the operator subject to a Level 2 FPN 
(up to £500 per vehicle).
This would benefit all pedestrians using the public highway in the borough.

4. Safeguarding and Human Rights impacts
a) Safeguarding risks and Human Rights breaches

Please describe any safeguarding risks for children or vulnerable adults AND any potential 
human rights breaches that may occur as a result of the proposal? Please refer to section 
4.8 of the guidance for more information.

N/A If potential safeguarding and human rights risks are identified then please contact 
equalities@islington.gov.uk to discuss further: 

Page 92

http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf
http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf


3

5. Action

How will you respond to the impacts that you have identified in sections 3 and 4, or address any 
gaps in data or information?
For more information on identifying actions that will limit the negative impact of the policy for 
protected groups see the guidance.

Action Responsible person or 
team 

Deadline

Council officers and dockless officers meet 
regularly to address any issues and ensure that 
operators are working collaboratively and 
responsibly. These meetings also seek to wide 
participation in these schemes. 

David Shannon, Active 
Travel Team

Ongoing

Council officers and dockless operators to form 
a working group with disability action groups in 
the borough to establish best practice in relation 
to the deployment and management of dockless 
vehicles. The aim is to mitigate concerns and 
impact from mobility and disabled groups.

David Shannon, Active 
Travel Team
Dockless operators
Disability action groups
LCC
Living Streets

Ongoing

Please send the completed RIA to equalites@islington.gov.uk and also make it publicly 
available online along with the relevant policy or service change.

This Resident Impact Assessment has been completed in accordance with the 
guidance and using appropriate evidence.

Staff member completing this form: Head of Service or higher:

Signed: David Shannon Signed: Tony Ralph_________________

Date: 06/09/2019 Date: 06/09/2019Page 93

http://sp.izzi/published/Records/Community%20and%20living/Information/Guidance/2015-2016/(2015-05-18)%20RIA%20Guidance.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3

COUNCIL MEETING – 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF WHIP                                                                
                       

OUTSIDE BODY APPOINTMENTS 

1. CITY OF LONDON ACADEMY ISLINGTON  

a) To note that Cllr Caluori’s term of office on the board of City of London Academy 
Islington will expire on 15 October 2019 and to appoint Cllr Cutler as his successor 
for a four year term or until a successor is appointed.  

 RECOMMENDATION: 

a) That Cllr Cutler be appointed to the board of City of London Academy Islington 
from 15 October 2019 for a four year term or until a successor is appointed. 

2. FINSBURY PARK TRUST  

a) To note Cllr Heather’s current term of office on the board of the Finsbury Park Trust 
will end on 15 December 2019 and to appoint Cllr Heather for a further three year 
term.  

b) To note that Cllr Shaikh’s current term of office as a substitute member of the 
board of the Finsbury Park Trust will end on 15 December 2019 and to appoint Cllr 
Shaikh for a further three year term.  

 RECOMMENDATION: 

a) That Cllr Heather be -appointed to the board of the Finsbury Park Trust from 15 
December 2019 for a three year term or until a successor is appointed. 

b) That Cllr Shaikh be appointed a substitute member of the board of the Finsbury 
Park Trust from 15 December 2019 for a three year term or until a successor is 
appointed.  

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 of 3

3. COMMUNITY CHEST PANEL 

a) To note that Cllr Khurana’s membership of the Community Chest Panel has expired 
following her appointment to the board of the Cripplegate Foundation, and to 
appoint Cllr Gill has her successor for the remainder of the municipal year or until a 
successor is appointed. 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

     a) That Cllr Gill be appointed to the Community Chest Panel with immediate effect for 
      the remainder of the municipal year or until a successor is appointed.  

COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 

1. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

a) To note that Finola Culbert, Director of Safeguarding and Family Support, has left 
Islington Council and has ceased to be the substitute member for Carmel Littleton, 
Corporate Director – People Directorate, on the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

b) To appoint Laura Eden, Director of Youth and Communities, as the substitute 
member for Carmel Littleton, Corporate Director – People Directorate, on the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.

RECOMMENDATION: 

a) That Laura Eden, Director of Youth and Communities, be appointed as the 
substitute member for Carmel Littleton, Corporate Director – People Directorate, on 
the Health and Wellbeing Board.

OTHER MATTERS 

1. EXECUTIVE MEMBER PORTFOLIOS

a) To note that the Leader of the Council has amended the portfolio of the Executive 
Member for Finance, Performance and Community Safety to designate the portfolio 
holder as the ‘Champion for Victims (of crime)’. 

Page 96



Page 3 of 3

     RECOMMENDED: 

a) That the designation of the Executive Member for Finance, Performance and 
Community Safety as the Champion for Victims (of crime) be noted. 

CLLR SATNAM GILL

Chief Whip

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL MEETING – 26 SEPTEMBER 2019 

NOTICES OF MOTION

 
Motion 1: Women’s Night Safety Charter 

Moved by Cllr Una O’Halloran 
Seconded by Cllr Kadeema Woodbyrne 

This Council notes that – 

 Islington has a vibrant and thriving night-time economy, which is enjoyed by 
thousands of local people and visitors every day, and many local people travel 
and work at night in the borough and elsewhere in London. 

 Whilst there is less reported violent crime at night in London than during the 
day, approximately 23 per cent of women in London say they feel unsafe in 
London at night and women and girls are more likely to experience sexual 
violence, assault and abuse than the rest of society at night.

 20 per cent of women have experienced some type of sexual assault since the 
age of 16, and 79 per cent of women aged 18-24 said they expected 
inappropriate comments, touching and behaviour on a night out towards them 
or their friends. 

This Council believes that –

 All women have a right to be safe at all times, including at night, whether that’s 
at work, socialising or travelling on public transport. 

This Council further notes that –

 Islington Council’s Licensing Policy 2018-2022 includes specific requirements 
for applicants to include safeguards to mitigate against sexual harassment of 
women in licenced venues, and services across the Council work with 
businesses and others to improve the safety of women in the borough.

 The Mayor of London’s Women’s Night Safety Charter has been created to 
make London a city where all women feel confident and welcome at night. The 
charter sets out guidance for venues, operators, charities, councils and 
businesses to improve safety at night for women. This includes better training 
of staff, encouraging the reporting of harassment, and ensuring public spaces 
are safe.

 Islington Council signed-up to the Women’s Night Safety Charter in July 2019. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 12



This Council resolves to –

 Support and deliver on all the pledges within the Women’s Night Safety 
Charter. 

 Encourage other businesses and organisations in Islington that operate at night 
to sign-up to the Women’s Night Safety Charter.

 Monitor the number of Islington businesses and organisations that sign-up to 
the Women’s Night Safety Charter as part of the Council’s efforts to prevent 
and reduce violence against women and girls in the borough. 

 Work with the Mayor of London to seek to make London a safer city at night 
for all. 

Motion 2: Opposing a ‘No Deal’ Brexit 

Moved by Cllr Richard Watts 
Seconded by Cllr Una O’Halloran 

This Council notes that –

 on 6th December 2018, this Council agreed a motion concerning Britain’s exit 
from the European Union (EU), which warned that a ‘No Deal’ Brexit would be 
disastrous.

 since the motion was agreed, two Prime Ministers have failed to secure a deal 
that Parliament could support. 

 the Government’s Operation Yellowhammer report has made clear the 
significant challenges the UK would face in the event of a ‘No Deal’ Brexit, 
including increased food prices, disruption to supply chains for medicines, a 
potential rise in public disorder and significant transport disruption at ports. 

This Council further notes that –

 the Council’s Brexit Resilience Group is continuing to prepare for a potential ‘No 
Deal’ scenario.

 the Council has provided extensive support to local residents and staff who are 
EU Citizens to support them to apply for settled status, and will continue to do 
so.

This Council believes that –

 a ‘No Deal’ Brexit would be devastating for the UK economy, is highly likely to 
present significant challenges to local residents and businesses, and could put 
pressure on Council services. 

Page 100



This Council resolves that –

 it is opposed in the strongest terms to a ‘No Deal’ Brexit. 
 a ‘No Deal’ Brexit should be ruled out by the Government, an extension to the 

date the UK is due to leave the EU negotiated and then a General Election 
should be called to give people their say. 

Motion 3: A Fully Funded, Proper Pay Rise for Council and School Workers

Moved by Cllr Sara Hyde  
Seconded by Cllr Paul Smith 

This Council notes –

 That the council has lost 70% of its core central government funding since 
2010 and will have had to make savings of £275 million in total from its 
budgets by 2022. 

 Between 2010 and 2020, councils across the country will have lost 60p out of 
every £1 they have received from central government. 

 Despite 70% cuts to core government funding since 2010, the council has kept 
job losses as low as possible. 

 The 2019 LGA survey of council finances found that 1 in 3 councils fear they 
will run out of funding to provide even their statutory, legal duties by 2022/23. 
This number rises to almost two thirds of councils by 2024/2025 or later. 

 The LGA estimates councils will face a funding gap of £8 billion by 2025. 
 Faced with these cuts from central government, the local government 

workforce has endured years of pay restraint with the majority of pay points 
losing 22 per cent of their value since 2009/10.

 At the same time as seeing their pay go down in real terms, workers 
experience ever increasing workloads and persistent job insecurity. Across the 
UK, an estimated 876,000 jobs have been lost in local government since June 
2010 – a reduction of 30 per cent. Local government has arguably been hit by 
more severe job losses than any other part of the public sector.

 There has been a disproportionate impact on women, with women making up 
more than three quarters of the local government workforce.

This Council further notes –

 That the council was proud to become the country’s first accredited Living 
Wage Council in 2012, with all directly employed staff paid at least the London 
Living Wage. 

Page 101



 That the council is one of the first to have been awarded the Good Work 
Standard by the Mayor of London, in recognition of its positive employment 
practices.   

 It has already signed up to the TUC’s Dying to Work Charter, Unison’s Ethical 
Care Charter and is a Timewise Accredited Council, to protect the employment 
conditions and rights of all council staff.

This Council believes –

 Our workers are public service heroes.  They keep our streets clean, care for 
those in need and play a central role in making Islington a fairer place for all. 

 Without the professionalism and dedication of our staff, the council services 
that local people rely on would not be deliverable.

 The local government workforce deserves a proper pay rise, fully funded by 
central government.  

This Council resolves to –

 Support the pay claim submitted by Unite, GMB and UNISON on behalf of 
council and school workers for a £10 per hour minimum wage and a 10% uplift 
across all other pay points in 2020/21.

 Call on the Local Government Association to make urgent representations to 
central government to fund the National Joint Council (NJC) pay claim.

 Write to the Chancellor and Secretary of State to call for a pay increase for 
local government workers to be funded with new money from central 
government. 

 Continue to encourage all local government workers to join a trade union.

Motion 4: Opposition to Heathrow Expansion & the introduction of 
concentrated flight paths over Islington

Moved by Cllr Caroline Russell 

The Council notes – 

 That the report ‘Aircraft Noise” by the London Assembly Environment 
Committee recommended opposition to expansion at Heathrow owing to the 
impact on Londoners of the large increase in flight numbers. 

 That World Health Organisation (WHO) guidelines state that frequent exposure 
to noise above 45 decibels is associated with adverse health effects, yet the 
threshold set in the Government’s guidelines is 54 decibels. 

 That the impact of a new runway at Heathrow is likely to exceed 54-decibels by 
between 3-6 dB.

 That the expansion of Heathrow would result in 700 more flights every day 
over communities across London. 

Page 102



 That the proposed introduction of concentrated flight paths would have a 
significant and adverse impact on the health of local communities by creating 
noise canyons over parts of Islington. 

 That aircraft noise has a particularly negative impact on children’s health, 
including their cognitive development. 

 The Airports National Policy Statement used a single ‘minimise total’ flight path 
scenario, which is not compatible with the Department for Transport’s own key 
environmental policy – to reduce, minimise and mitigate significant adverse 
health and wellbeing impacts of aviation noise. 

The Council further notes –

 Emissions from aviation have doubled since 1990, despite a 40% fall across the 
whole economy. 

 That Heathrow is already the largest single source of carbon emissions in the 
UK. 

 The findings of the 2018 IPCC report, highlighting the huge ecological and 
human cost of failure to mitigate the impacts of climate change. 

 The latest report from the Committee on Climate Change states that aviation 
must contribute to its new target of net-zero emissions by 2050. 

 The council stated its opposition to a third runway during the Heathrow 
consultation.

The Council therefore believes –

 That expansion of Heathrow is not compatible with the climate emergency 
recently declared by the UK Parliament and by this Council.

 That noise impacts from additional flights over London would have a negative 
impact on the health and quality of life of Islington residents. 

The Council resolves to –

 Oppose further expansion of airport capacity in London. 
 Oppose the introduction of concentrated flight paths in London. 
 Campaign for UK Aviation Noise policy to be brought into line with WHO 

recommendations. 
 Register as an ‘Interested Party” in the Development Consent Order Process for 

the proposed expansion of Heathrow. 
 Join the No Third Runway Coalition as a local authority member.

Page 103



Motion 5: Single-use plastic-free Islington

Moved by Cllr Caroline Russell 

 This Council notes –

 Eight million metric tons of plastic waste makes its way into the world’s oceans 
each year. Plastic pollution is already a huge threat to life in our oceans.  

 There is a growing understanding of the risks posed to human health by toxic 
chemicals present in plastics. Terrestrial water supplies are known to be 
contaminated with microplastics, the long-term effect of which on human 
health is not known.

 It is predicted that the amount of plastic debris is likely to increase over the 
next decade unless nations take strong measures to dispose of their litter 
responsibly.

 Six months after the introduction of the 5p bag charge, use of single-use 
plastic bags dropped by 85%.

The Council believes –

 That all public bodies have a role to play in reducing unnecessary single-use 
plastic waste

 That the council can be a local leader, encouraging residents, organisations and 
businesses to stop using non-medical single use plastics (SUP).

 
This Council resolves to –

 Bring a report to the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee on the 
options for reducing the use of unnecessary non-medical Single Use Plastics 
(SUP) items in Islington, with the aim of:

o ensuring that Islington Council becomes a full signatory of the ‘Plastic 
Free Pledge’ (https://plasticfreepledge.com/) by phasing out the use of 
unnecessary SUPs in all Council buildings, and working with 
commissioning partners to end the purchase and procurement of SUPs 
through the council supply chain;

o encouraging the borough’s businesses, schools, organisations and 
residents to go ‘single-use plastic free,’ working to share business 
support, practical guidelines and advice to help local businesses 
transition from SUPs to re-usable alternatives; 

o incentivising traders on Council land to sell reusable containers and 
invite customers to bring their own, with the aim of phasing out SUPs; 

o requiring food and drink vendors at sporting and other events or on film 
locations in the borough to avoid SUPs and other high carbon single-use 
items as a condition of their event permission;

o Investigating whether avoidance of SUPs could be a condition of 
licencing for pubs, nightclubs and music venues.

 

Page 104

https://plasticfreepledge.com/
https://plasticfreepledge.com/

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes - July2019

	6 Petition debate: Declare a climate emergency in Islington and pledge to reach net zero emissions by 2030
	7 Questions from Members of the Public
	8 Questions from Members of the Council
	9 Byelaw for the Management of Barbeques on Highbury Fields
	Appendix 1 - Highbury Fields BBQ Consultation Report
	Appendix 2 - Highbury Fields Barbecue Byelaw
	Appendix 3 - BBQ byelaw RIA
	Appendix 4 - Islington Provisional approval letter

	10 London Councils' Transport and Environment Committee - Governing Agreement Amendment for Greater London Dockless Vehicle Hire Byelaw
	Appendix 1 LCTEC report on dockless cycles
	Appendix 2 LCTEC Agreement amendment explanatory note for dockless byelaw
	Appendix 3 - Letter to Chief Executives - TEC Delegation
	Appendix 4 - RIA dockless vehicles byelaw

	11 Chief Whip's Report
	12 Notices of Motion

